United Arab Emirates University Scholarworks@UAEU

Theses

Electronic Theses and Dissertations

2005

Fine Mapping of Sequences Important For FIV RNA Packaging and Their Mechanism of Function

Akela Ahmed Mohamed Ghazawi

Follow this and additional works at: https://scholarworks.uaeu.ac.ae/all_theses Part of the <u>Environmental Sciences Commons</u>

Recommended Citation

Mohamed Ghazawi, Akela Ahmed, "Fine Mapping of Sequences Important For FIV RNA Packaging and Their Mechanism of Function" (2005). *Theses.* 427. https://scholarworks.uaeu.ac.ae/all theses/427

This Thesis is brought to you for free and open access by the Electronic Theses and Dissertations at Scholarworks@UAEU. It has been accepted for inclusion in Theses by an authorized administrator of Scholarworks@UAEU. For more information, please contact fadl.musa@uaeu.ac.ae.



United Arab Emirates University Deanship of Graduate Studies M.Sc. Program in Environmental Science

FINE MAPPING OF SEQUENCES IMPORTANT FOR FIV RNA PACKAGING AND THEIR MECHANISM OF FUNCTION

By

Akela Ahmed Mohamed Ghazawi

A thesis Submitted to

United Arab Emirates University In partial fulfillment of the requirements For the Degree of M.Sc. in Environmental Sciences

United Arab Emirates University Deanship of Graduate Studies M.Sc. Program in Environmental Science

FINE MAPPING OF SEQUENCES IMPORTANT FOR FIV RNA PACKAGING AND THEIR MECHANISM OF FUNCTION

By

Akela Ahmed Mohamed Ghazawi

Submitted to

United Arab Emirates University In partial fulfillment of the requirements For the Degree of M.Sc. in Environmental Sciences

Supervisor

Dr. Tahir A. Rizvi

Associate Professor Department of Medical Microbiology Faculty of Medicine and Health Sciences UAE University

The Thesis of Akela Ahmed Ghazawi for the Degree of Master of Science in Environmental is approved.

Althr-

Examining Committee Member, Dr. Tahir A. Rizvi

Examining Committee Member, Prof. Andrew Michael Lindsay Lever

12. M

Examining Committee Member, Dr. Ahmed H. M. Hassan Al - Marzouqi

Hart

Director of the Program, Dr. Hazem A. H. Kataya

Dean of the Graduate Studies, Professor James E. Fletcher

United Arab Emirates University 2004/2005







Dedication

I dedicate this work to my mother for her unlimited giving, love and support

Acknowledgments

First and foremost, my thanks and sincere appreciation goes to **Dr. Tahir A. Rizvi** for the kind supervision, education and guidance that he provided me. I would also like to thank him for teaching me the retrovirology language, and for the homely atmosphere that he created in our laboratory.

My deepest appreciation and gratitude goes to **Dr. Farah Mustafa**, for her kind help and cooperation in every aspect of this thesis, for her patience and continuous assistance from generating the DNA clones up to the finer points in writing the thesis. I cannot find enough words to express my gratitude and thanks. I also would like to thank her for helping me develop better writing skills.

My sincere thanks and appreciation goes to both **Pretty Susan Philip** and **Preethi Jayanth** for their help in teaching me all the laboratory protocols, providing me support in the thesis work and of course for their emotional support during my stay in the UAE. They were like sisters to me and will be so forever. I hope that they will remember all the arabic words I taught them. I am also waiting to see them in Egypt soon.

I would also like to thank our new colleague Jahabar Ali, for his assistance in minipreparation of DNA clones.

I would like to thank my family for their support, help and encouragement, especially my mother, since this work has been accomplished because of her prayers for me.

I would also like to thank the **UAE University** for giving me this scholarship to be able to gain a higher degree, and for all the support that I had from them.

Abstract

The mechanism by which retroviruses preferentially encapsidate their unspliced genomic RNA among millions of both spliced viral and cellular mRNAs in the cytoplasm represents a function of great specificity. This selection process requires that the genomic RNA contain packaging determinants unique to its own RNA that can interact specifically with the packaging proteins of the viral particles, the Gag polyproteins. Knowing the exact sequences involved in packaging should provide basic insights into the mechanism of preferentially encapsidating the full length genomic RNA.

We have been interested in mapping the packaging determinants of the feline immunodeficiency virus (FIV), a lentivirus that is being considered as a potentially powerful gene delivery system for human gene therapy. Our initial studies have shown that the FIV packaging determinants are located as two discontinuous core regions within the 5' end of the viral genome (Browning et al., 2003 a & b). The first region extends from the R/U5 in the 5' LTR to the first 120 bp of 5' UTR and the second consists of the first 100 bp of *gag*, while other regions of the genome may also be involved.

Studies undertaken in this thesis carried these observations further to determine whether the region in between the two core determinants was important for packaging or merely acted to maintain the spacing of the two core elements. Additionally, since other regions of the genome, especially the LTR, had been implicated as containing significant packaging determinants in other studies (Kemler et al., 2002), we dissected the role of the LTR elements away from the untranslated region towards FIV RNA packaging. Towards this end, several series of small FIV transfer vectors were constructed either in the heterologous non-viral or homologous subgenomic context containing various combinations of the LTR, and/or UTR and *gag* and tested for their packaging potential in our well-established *in vivo* packaging assay. This was followed by analysis of the amount of transfer vector RNAs packaged directly into the virus particles using a semiquantitative RT-PCR approach.

Test of the various transfer vector RNAs confirmed our earlier observation that the FIV packaging determinants are indeed discontinuous and spread out with the core packaging determinants residing within the first 150 bp UTR and 100 bp of gug (Chapter III). Furthermore, the intervening sequences between these two elements were not required either for vector RNA packaging or propagation (Chapter III). Analysis of the LTR elements revealed the presence of other packaging determinants of lesser strength than the core determinants in the 5' R/U5 and 3' U3/R regions of the viral LTRs (Chapter IV). Folding of the 5'end of the viral RNA using computer analysis software revealed the presence of complex stem loop structures. Correlation of the mutational analysis with the folding algorithms revealed the presence of a conserved stem loop in the 5'UTR that may serve as the principal packaging determinant of FIV. Interestingly, no consistent structural element could be identified within the first 100 bp of gag that could be responsible for the packaging potential of the gag region, suggesting that gag sequences may function at the primary sequence level, perhaps providing the intronic sequences needed to distinguish between genomic and subgenomic mRNAs. Taken together, these data should add to the increasing knowledge of how complex retroviruses package their genomic RNAs and help streamline the design of safer self-inactivating FIV-based vectors for human gene therapy.

Table of Contents

Page

Acknowledgments	
Abstract	
List of tables	V
List of Figures	vi
Chapter I: INTRODUCTION	1
Background	2
Structure	2
Retroviral Genome	4
Classification	6
Retrovirus Replication	9
A. Attachment and Entry	9
B. Reverse Transcription	11
C. Integration	13
D. Transcription and Translation	14
E. Assembly and Budding	17
Brief History and Significance of FIV	18
Epidemiology	18
A. Host Range	18
B. Geographic Distribution	19
General Characteristics and Morphology	19
Cell Tropism of FIV	20
Gene Therapy	20
A. Non-Viral Options for Gene Therapy	21
B. Viral Vectors for Gene Therapy	22

Adenoviral vectors	22
Adeno-associated viral (AAV) vectors	22
Herpes simplex viral (HSV) vectors	23
Retroviral vector	23
RNA Encapsidation	24
Objectives	35
Chapter II: MATERIALS AND METHODS	37
Genome Numbering System	38
Plasmid Construction	38
FIV packaging construct	38
Envelope expression construct	38
FIV control transfer vector	38
Transfer vectors with deletions between the two core regions	38
Transfer vectors with simultaneous deletions/insertions between	42
the two core regions	
Transfer vectors testing the R/U5 region	45
R/U5 in the heterologous context	45
R/U5 + 90/120/150 bp of 5' UTR + 100 bp gag in the	45
heterologous context	
R/U5 + 270 bp of 5' UTR + 100 bp gag in the	47
heterologous context	
90/120/150 bp of 5' UTR + 100 bp gag without R/U5 in	47
the heterologous context	
270 bp of 5' UTR + 100 bp gag without R/U5 in the	47
heterologous context	
R/U5 in the homologous context	47
270 bp of 5' UTR + 100 bp gag without R/U5 in the	48
homologous context	
Transfer vectors testing the 3'LTR	48
3' LTR in the homologous context	48

ii

	U3/R/U5 in the heterologous context	48
	U3/R in the heterologous context	48
	U3/ truncated R (just before poly A) in the heterologous	50
	context	
	Transfections and Infections of Cells	50
	Luciferase Assays	51
	Virus Isolation	52
	Nucleocytoplasmic Fraction of Transfected Cells	52
	RNA Isolation	53
	RT-PCR	54
	Southern Blot Analysis	57
	Western Blot Analysis	58
	Secondary RNA Structural Analysis	59
Cha	apter III: RESULTS AND DISCUSSION I	60
	Role of sequences in between the core packaging determinants in FIV	61
	RNA packaging	
	The region in between the two core packaging determinants is not	65
	necessary for packaging	
	Structural analysis of the folding potential of the 5' end of the FIV	73
	genome and its correlation with the packaging efficiency data	
	SL2 is potentially the key packaging determinant of FIV	73
ha	apter IV: RESULTS AND DISCUSSION II	78
	Role of 5' and 3' LTRs on the packaging efficiency of FIV RNA	79
	R/U5 region increases the packaging efficiency of heterologous	79
	FIV transfer vector RNAs	
	Role of the 3' LTR on the packaging efficiency of FIV RNA	83
	The 3' LTR contributes to FIV RNA packaging	85
	The U3 portion of the LTR also contains packaging determinants	88

(

	The U3/R folds differently when at the 3' end versus when at the	92
	5' end	
The	packaging determinants within the UTR and gag constitute the	94
core	e packaging determinants of FIV	
Chapter	V: CONCLUSIONS & RECOMMENDATIONS	100
REFER	ENCES	108

ARABIC SUMMARY

List of Tables

	Page
Table I.1. Retrovirus genera according to the new classification	8
Table II.1. Primers used in RT-PCR and PCRs	55
Table III.1. The intervening region between the two core packaging determinants does not affect transfer vector RNA propagation	72

List of Figures

		Page
Figure 1.1.	Structure of a typical retrovirus	3
Figure 1.2.	Schematic representation of simple and complex retroviruses	5
Figure 1.3.	Retroviral replication cycle	10
Figure I.4.	Process of reverse transcription of the retroviral genome	12
Figure 1.5.	Steps in the integration of the viral DNA	15
Figure I.6.	Overview of retroviral transcription and RNA processing	16
Figure I.7.	The predicted secondary RNA structure of the 5' end of MPMV,	28
	HIV and SIV genomic RNAs	
Figure 1.8.	The packaging pathway	33
		20
Figure II.1.	Schematic representation of FIV packaging construct (MB22) and	39
	FIV control transfer vector (MB15)	
Figure II.2.	Schematic representation of transfer vectors containing the	41
	deletions between the two core regions	
Figure II.3.	Schematic representation of transfer vectors with simultaneous	43
	deletions/insertions between the two core regions	
Figure II.4.	Schematic representation of transfer vectors testing the effect of	46
	R/U5 region on packaging	
Figure II.5.	Schematic representation of transfer vectors testing the effects of 3'	49
	LTR on packaging	
Figure III.1.	Two discontinuous regions define the core packaging determinants	62
	of FIV	
Figure III.2.	Test of the region intervening the core packaging determinants for	63
	effects on packaging	
Figure III.3.	Design of the in vivo packaging assay	64
Figure III.4.	Analysis of the relative packaging efficiencies of transfer vector	67
	RNAs with deletions and/or simultaneous insertions between the	
	two core regions	

Figure III.5.	e III.5. The region in between the two core packaging determinants is not necessary for packaging	
Figure III.6.	The folding potential of the mutant transfer vectors either with	74
deletions or deletions/insertions in between the two core elements		
Figure IV.1.	Test of the FIV R/U5 region towards contribution to FIV RNA packaging	81
Figure IV.2.	The R/U5 region increases the packaging efficiency of	84
	heterologous FIV transfer vector RNAs	
Figure IV.3.	Test of the 3' LTR and R/U5 regions towards contribution to FIV	86
	RNA packaging	
Figure IV.4.	The 3' LTR and R/U5 region increase the packaging efficiency of	87
	FIV transfer vector RNAs	
Figure IV.5.	The 3' LTR increases the packaging efficiency of FIV RNA	89
Figure IV.6.	The U3 part of the 3' LTR in particular increases the packaging	90
	efficiency of FIV RNA	
Figure IV.7.	The context of the LTR determines the relative contribution to	91
	FIV RNA packaging	
Figure IV.8.	The 5' context of the LTR has better packaging potential than the	93
	3' context	
Figure IV.9.	Folding potential of the FIV transfer vector RNAs expressing the	95
	U3, R, or U5 elements in either the 5' or 3' context	
Figure IV.10.	The major core determinants of FIV RNA packaging lie within	96
	150 bp of the 5' UTR and 100 bp of gag, while R/U5 and U3 play	
	a minor role in FIV RNA packaging	
Figure V.1.	The predicted secondary RNA structure of the 5' end of the FIV RNA	102

Chapter I

INTRODUCTION

Background

The technological revolution in molecular biology has brought about new ways of controlling human diseases such as gene therapy. Using genes to treat, prevent and control human diseases has improved the field of biomedical research and could further enhance the quality of millions of lives. Retroviruses are a special type of viruses that have proven to be ideal for human therapy due to their ability to integrate and stably transmit the desired genetic material to the treated cells.

In addition to medicine, the study of retroviruses has had a great impact on other areas of biology, especially on molecular genetics, on the study of cellular growth control and carcinogenesis, and overall, on biotechnology (Varmus 1988; Tennin, 1992). The family *Retroviridae* includes a wide variety of disease-producing animal viruses that contain RNA as their genetic material in the virus particle and DNA as their genetic material in cells. Hence, this is the first example of a "reverse" flow of information from RNA to DNA, challenging the central dogma of biology. This is due to the presence of "reverse transcriptase" an enzyme whose main role is to convert the genomic RNA into DNA. Because of this reversal of information, these viruses are called "retro". All retroviruses and their relatives are obligatory parasites (reviewed in Vogt, 1997).

Structure

All retroviruses have a similar structure, although they cause different diseases (Fig I.1). Starting from outside, the viral envelope is formed from the host cell membrane and consists of two viral protein subunits: the transmembrane protein (TM), which is linked



Figure I.1. Structure of a typical retrovirus. The RNA is shown in the center of the capsid (CA) in association with the nucleocapsid proteins (NC). The integrase (IN), reverse transcriptase (RT), and the protease (PR) enzymes are found within the capsid forming the inner core of the virus. Both the transmembrane (TM) and the surface (SU) envelope glycoproteins are found within the host cell membrane that is attached to the core via the matrix (MA) proteins.

[adapted from *Retroviruses*, 1997]

to the surface protein (SU). The envelope proteins are responsible for the infectious properties of the retroviruses and without them, the virus cannot enter the host cell. In addition, the virus membrane contains most of the host proteins, revealing that virus membrane comes from the host cell during maturation. One of the peculiar feature of retroviruses is the presence of a core composed of the capsid protein and containing the genomic RNA that differs in its shape among different types of retroviruses. The capsid is held together to the membrane by the matrix protein. The presence of two identical positive single-strands of RNA makes retroviruses diploid, which is not the case in other viruses. The RNA molecules are strongly attached to the nucleocapsid protein. The core also contains all the enzymes required for the life cycle of the virus, including the reverse transcriptase, integrase, and protease (reviewed in Vogt, 1997).

Retroviral Genome

Retroviruses are broadly divided into two categories – simple and complex- based on the organization of their genomes (Coffin, 1992a; Murphy et al., 1994) (Fig. I.2). While simple retroviruses contain only the structural genes necessary for virus particle formation, complex ones contain additional genes that give them further capabilities to exploit the host cellular machinery.

All retroviruses include three to four structural genes containing the information needed for the formation of new viral particles. The *gag* gene is responsible for the synthesis of structural proteins which differentiates into the matrix (MA), the capsid (CA) and the nucleocapsid (NC) proteins. The *pro* encodes for the protease enzyme (PR) that cleaves the viral polyproteins (reviewed in Vogt, 1997).



Figure 1.2. Schematic representation of simple and complex retroviruses. Genes which are common to all retroviruses include gag, pro, pol, and env. Complex retroviruses include additional genes such as vif, vpr, vpu, nef, tat, and rev. The non-coding sequences include the long terminal repeat (LTR) which contains the U3, R, and U5.

The *pol* encodes for enzymes critical for virus replication, including the reverse transcriptase (RT) and integrase (IN) enzymes. Finally, the product of the *env* gene is responsible for the infection of cells, forming the surface (SU) and transmembrane (TM) components of the envelope protein. The complex retroviruses include some additional genes such as *tat*, *rev*, *vif*, *vpr*, *vpu*, or *nef*. Some of these are critical for virus replication, such as *tat* which affects the level of transcription and the elongation of lentiviral RNAs (reviewed in Goff, 2001) and *rev*, which interacts with the Rev Responsive Element (RRE) found in the unspliced and singly spliced retroviral mRNAs to facilitate their nucleocytoplasmic transport without degradation (reviewed in Goff, 2001).

Classification

Retroviruses can be classified into four types based on their appearance under the microscope (reviewed in Goff, 2001). The shape and position of nucleocapsid core was used primarily as a classifying feature for the different genera of retroviruses. Type A are incomplete virions since they do not have an extracellular phase in their life cycle. That is why they are called "retrotransposons". Type B are assembled by budding and get matured with a condensed non-central core. Type C are represented in mammalian and avian groups and differ from the previous types in that they mature into a condensed central form. Finally, type D particles are very similar to type B in assembly and budding.

The above classification has been partially useful in defining retroviruses. However, a new classification was made to differentiate between the different genera of retroviruses (Goff, 2001). The new classification defines seven groups of retroviruses (Table I.1).

New name	Examples	Morphology
Alpharetrovirus, α	Avian leukosis virus (ALV) Rous sarcoma virus (RSV)	C- type
Betaretrovirus, β	Mouse mammary tumor virus (MMTV) Mason-Pfizer monkey virus (MPMV) Jaagsiekte sheep retrovirus (JSRV)	B-, D-type
Gammaretrovirus, γ	Murine leukemia viruses (MuLV) Feline leukemia virus (FeLV) Gibbon ape leukemia virus (GaLV) Reticuloendotheliosis virus (Revt)	C-type
Deltaretrovirus, δ	Human T-lymphotropic virus (HTLV)-1, -2 Bovine leukemia virus (BLV) Simian T-lymphotropic virus (STLV)-1, -2, -3	
Epsilonretrovirus, ε	Walleye dermal sarcoma virus Walleye epidermal hyperplasia virus 1	· ·
Lentivirus	Human immunodeficiency virus type 1 (HIV-1) HIV-2 Simian immunodeficiency virus (SIV) Equine infectious anemia virus (EIAV) Feline immunodeficiency virus (FIV) Caprine arthritis encephalitis virus (CAEV) Visna/maedi virus	Rod/cone core
Spumavirus	Human foamy virus (HFV)	Immature

Table I.1: Retrovirus genera according to the new classification

Alpharetroviruses are simple retroviruses having a C-type morphology. The best known example of this group is Avian Leukemia Viruses (ALV). Betaretroviruses are also simple retroviruses having either a B-type morphology with an eccentric core or D-type morphology with a cylindrical core. Mouse Mammary Tumor Virus (MMTV) and Mason-Pfizer Monkey Virus (MPMV) exemplify this group. Gammaretroviruses are simple retroviruses characterized by a C-type morphology. This group has a wide variety of members, including the murine and feline leukemia viruses (MuLVs and FeLVs). Deltaretroviruses are complex retroviruses having a C-type morphology. They are exemplified by the human T-lymphotropic virus (HTLV) and the bovine leukemia viruses (BLV). HTLV-1 and 2 are an important category of retroviruses with oncogenic properties in humans. Epsilonretroviruses are complex viruses characterized by a C-type morphology. The prototype of this group is the walleye dermal sarcoma virus (WDSV). Lentiviruses are complex viruses having a unique morphology with a core that is either cylindrical or conical in shape. One of the best known examples of this group are the human immunodeficiency virus types 1 and 2 (HIV-1 and 2). This category causes neurological and immunological diseases such as acquired immunodeficiency syndrome (AIDS). Spumaviruses are complex viruses having a unique morphological feature. They contain spikes on the surface and have a central uncondensed core. The prototype of this group is the human foamy virus (HFV) (reviewed in Goff, 2001).

Retrovirus Replication

The mechanism by which retroviruses replicate is one of the most characteristic features that differentiates retroviruses from other viral families. The replication of retroviruses includes two phases: the first phase includes the entry of the virus into the cell, reverse transcription, and integration into the host genome. All the processes of the first phase utilize viral proteins. The second phase includes transcription, translation, assembly, and budding; these steps utilize host cell machinery. Briefly:

A. Attachment and Entry

The first important phase of replication is the attachment and entry of the virus into the host cell (Fig I.3). Attachment takes place through the SU portion of the virus envelope, which binds to the protein receptor found on the surface of the cell. In the case of HIV, the virus infects the cells of the immune system, which are responsible for protecting the body from the invasion by other enemies via the CD4 receptor (Clapham et al., 1999). In addition to the receptor, entry of the virus into the host cell also requires special co-receptors, the chemokine receptors. When the virus binds to the co-receptor, it activates and enhances the TM portion of the virus envelope to start the fusion process between the virus and the host cell membranes (Berger, et al., 1999). Mutations or deletions in the co-receptor genes may lead to a decrease in the permissibility to entry so that the virus may not be able to enter the cell.



Figure 1.3. Retroviral replication cycle. The replication cycle starts with the attachment of the virus to the receptor and entering the cell. Reverse transcription generates a double stranded DNA called the provirus, which is then transported to the nucleus and integrated into the chromosomal DNA. The viral RNA is then transcribed, and either spliced or leaves the nucleus unspliced. Translation and assembly takes place in the cytoplasm. The viral RNA gets packaged into the virus particles and the virus is released by budding and matures to form infectious virus.

[adapted from Browning, 2001]

B. Reverse Transcription

A critical part of the retroviral replication is the reverse transcription and integration of the virus genome into the host cell, which is also a peculiar property of the retroviruses. Reverse transcription usually begins after the entry of the virus core into the cytoplasm. Unlike all other viruses, once the viral RNA enters the cell, it is transcribed into DNA with the aid of the reverse transcriptase enzyme (RT) contained in the virus nucleocapsid (reviewed in Telesnitsky & Goff, 1997). This linear molecule of double-stranded DNA is called a provirus.

Steps involved in the reverse transcription of retroviruses (Fig. I.4):

- The process of reverse transcription begins when the primer tRNA binds to the viral RNA at a complementary sequence called primer-binding site (pbs). After that the tRNA uses the plus strand RNA to form the minus strand strong stop DNA (-sssDNA) towards the 5' end and generate U5 and R sequences with the tRNA still attached to the 5' end.
- 2. The next step involves a jump of the –sssDNA from the 5' end to the 3' end of the genome. This jump requires the degradation of the 5' end of the RNA genome that has been replaced by the formation of ssDNA by the aid of the RNase H activity of RT. This step facilitates the binding of the ssDNA to the R sequences at the 3' end of the genome.
- The binding of -sssDNA provides a suitable primer-template structure which helps in the process of the elongation of -sssDNA to form the long minus-strand products.



Figure 1.4. Process of reverse transcription of the retroviral genome. [adapted from *Retroviruses*, 1997]

- 4. The primer needed for the synthesis of the plus strand DNA is created by the digestion of the genomic RNA in which a small portion is resistant to degradation called the polypurine tract (ppt). The ppt serves as a primer for the synthesis of plus strand DNA using the minus strand DNA as a template. The synthesis takes place towards the 5' end by copying the U3, R and U5 sequences and then elongated to copy a portion of the tRNA. The resulting sequence is called plus strand strong stop DNA (+sssDNA).
- 5. This is followed by the removal of tRNA by the aid of the RNase H activity of the reverse transcriptase.
- After the removal of the tRNA, the 3'end of the +sssDNA pairs with the 3'end of the -sssDNA forming a circular intermediate that shares the pbs sequences.
- 7. Both strands are now elongated. The extension of the –sssDNA is coupled with the displacement of the +sssDNA from the 5' end. As the elongation of the – sssDNA occurs, the +sssDNA is transferred to the 3' end. At this point, this circular shape is opened and results into a linear DNA.

The result of reverse transcription is the creation of a double stranded DNA molecule with long terminal repeats (LTRs) at either ends. The U3 at the 5' end comes from the 3' end, while the R/U5 sequences at the 3' end come from the 5' end of the virus genome.

C. Integration

Integration is the process in which the viral DNA integrates with the host chromosomal DNA. Integration is a crucial feature in the life cycle of the retroviruses and is required for efficient replication of retroviruses. Mutant retroviruses that are unable to integrate

cannot spread the infection. A key step that must occur before integration is the entry of the viral DNA into the nucleus. This takes place due to the presence of nuclear localization signals on the viral DNA. The actual integration takes place by the aid of the integrase protein (IN), which acts to insert the linear DNA formed previously during reverse transcription into the host chromosome (reviewed in Goff, 2001 and Brown, 1997).

The integration process takes place in two steps (Fig. 1.5):

- The first step includes the removal of the two terminal nucleotides at the 3' end of the linear DNA by the IN protein that results in the formation of recessed 3' ends and protruding 5' ends.
- 2. During the second step, the 3'OH ends are used in a strand transfer to attack the phosphodiester bonds of the cellular DNA, making a breaks in the cellular DNA that allows the viral DNA to integrate successfully in these breaks.

In the retroviral life cycle, the integrated proviral DNA is the template used for transcription of the viral mRNAs. Therefore, formation of an integrated proviral DNA is a crucial part in the replication cycle.

D. Transcription and Translation

After the integration of the provirus inside the host cell, transcription of this proviral DNA starts to recreate the full-length viral RNA genome and spliced RNA molecules that serve as templates for the production of viral proteins. Retroviral transcription takes place by the aid of the host cell RNA polymerase II (Fig. I.6). Because there are two similar LTRs in the proviral DNA, transcription may begin at both the 5' or the 3' ends although







Figure 1.6. Overview of retroviral transcription and RNA processing: A typical proviral structure (A) with identical 5' and 3' LTRs. The horizontal arrow marks the start site of transcription. The vertical arrow denotes the site of 3'end processing and polyadenylation in the RNA transcript. All viruses synthesize full length genomic RNA (B). The subgenomic-sized transcripts illustrate some of the possible products of alternative splicing. In simple retroviruses (C), only a single splice donor, or, occasionally, two splice acceptors are used. In complex viruses (D), multiple spliced products are found. (TR) transcriptional control elements that function in DNA; (PA) polyadenylation and 3'-end processing signals that function in RNA; (CAP) posttranscriptional modification of 5' termini of all transcripts; (SD and SA) spliced donor and acceptor signals for splicing (C); (AAA) polyadenylation of 3' termini of all transcripts.

[adapted from *Retroviruses*, 1997]

the 5' LTR is generally more utilized than the 3' LTR. The full length RNA transcript contains a copy of all the information encoded in the proviral DNA in addition to a short direct repeat at each end called "R" which is important for strand switching during the reverse transcription process. In simple retroviruses, only a single splice donor (SD) or two splice acceptors (SA) are used. But in complex retroviruses multiple splice donors and acceptors are used (reviewed in Rabson & Graves, 1997).

RNA splicing is the process by which part of the RNA sequences are removed and the remaining sequences are ligated to give a continuous frame for translation. After complete transcription of the proviral DNA into spliced and unspliced RNA, these retroviral RNA are transported outside the nucleus to the cytoplasm. The mechanism by which these RNAs are transported is not completely clear but involves the presence of *cis*-acting sequences (such as the constitutive transport element (CTE) in MPMV or Rev Responsive Element (RRE) in lentiviruses) on unspliced or partially spliced RNAs that interact with either viral (such as Rev in HIV, SIV and FIV) or cellular transport proteins (such as CRM-1) to move these RNAs out of the nucleus and into the cytoplasm for translation and incorporation into the newly forming virus particles (reviewed in Goff, 2001, Rabson & Graves, 1997).

E. Assembly and Budding

The assembly process is initiated by the *gag*, *pro*, *pol* and *env* genes which are common to all retroviruses. The *gag* gene is translated into a polyprotein which has a major role in the assembly process. It contains the sequence needed for MA, CA and NC proteins and is translated from the unspliced viral RNA on free ribosomes in the cytoplasm. The

products of the *pro* and *pol* genes provides the enzymes- the protease (PR), reverse transcriptase (RT), and integrase (IN)- critical for virus replication and are synthesized from the same unspliced RNA as the *gag*. Spliced RNA transcripts are used to make *env* proteins via the golgi apparatus that are ultimately delivered to the membrane of the host cell for the assembly process. This is followed by the maturation of the virus particles using the viral protease to cleave the large polyprotein precursors into the mature protein subunits such as MA, CA and NC proteins that form the mature infectious virus particle. In some retroviruses, virion maturation takes place before budding (such as types B & D), while in others (such as HIV), particle maturation takes place after budding (reviewed in Swanstrom & Wills, 1997).

Brief History and Significance of FIV

Feline immunodeficiency virus (FIV) was isolated from a large multiple cat household in Petaluma, California in 1986 (Pedersen et al., 1987). This discovery was initiated by an outbreak of acquired immunodeficiency-like disease among a large group of felineleukemia-virus-negative cats housed in the same pen (Pedersen et al., 1987). Since that time, FIV has been the target of intensive vaccine development efforts, and nowadays, it is becoming the lentivirus of choice to be used as safe vector in gene therapy.

Epidemiology

A. Host Range: All of the present isolates of FIV have come from domestic cats. However, many sera from wild Felidae, which includes African lions and cheetahs, Asian lions and tigers, South American jaguars, and North American bobcats and panthers have shown cross-reactivity with structural antigens of FIV (Barr et al., 1989; Letcher et al., 1991; Lutz et al., 1992; Olmsted et al., 1992).

B. Geographic Distribution: FIV has been identified in many regions of the United States, Canada, Europe, South Africa, Japan, China, Australia, and New Zealand. Domestic cats spread from Europe to these countries with the early traders and explorers thousand of years ago which suggests that FIV has infected cats for a long time (reviewed in Pedersen, 1993).

General Characteristics and Morphology

FIV has a worldwide distribution among feral and domesticated cats and in many cases induces immunodeficiency disease analogous to that of human AIDS. FIV is genetically homologous to HIV in genome organization and like HIV, exhibits enormous sequence variation throughout the range of host species (reviewed in Pedersen, 1993).

The virus buds from the plasma membrane in the same way as other retroviruses. The virions are around 105-125 nm in diameter, the shape is spherical to ellipsoid, and have short, poorly defined envelope projections. The virus buds in a typical crescentshaped appearance of C- and D-type retroviruses.

FIV has a buoyant density in sucrose of 1.15-1.17 g/cm³. It is damaged by common virucidal concentrations of several disinfectants like chlorine, quaternary ammonium compounds, phenolic compounds, or alcohol and becomes inactivated by heating at 60°C for few minutes. It can survive for over 2 years in tissue culture media at -70°C (reviewed in Pedersen, 1993).

Cell Tropism of FIV

Unlike primate lentiviruses, FIV does not use the CD4 receptor for the virus entry but the chemokine receptors (Brown et al., 1991; Willett et al., 1997). FIV replicates in primary feline blood mononuclear cells, thymus cells, and spleen cells that have been stimulated with concanavalin A (ConA) and maintained on human recombinant interleukin-2 (IL-2) (Pedersen et al., 1987; Yamamoto, et al., 1988). The cellular tropism of FIV is restricted to feline cells. FIV will not replicate in non-feline cell lines such as primary ConA- and IL-2-stimulated canine blood mononuclear cells and lymphocytes from other species (Yamamoto et al., 1988). There is some evidence that FIV will infect some human cell lines *in vitro*, but virus replication is restricted. The restriction of the virus tropism seems to be at the virus entry level into the host cell and at the level of gene expression (Miyazawa et al., 1992). The sequence variability found in the FIV envelope genes is directly related to its host range (Hohdatsu et al., 1996; Pancino et al., 1995; Greene et al., 1993; Maki et al., 1992; Phillips et al., 1990), while the activity of FIV LTR varies with different strains of FIV and in different host cell lines (Sparger et al., 1992; Miyazawa et al., 1994).

Gene Therapy

Genes are considered the basic functional units of heredity which are carried on chromosomes. Genes are very specific sequences of nucleotides that have codes for the formation of proteins that perform most life functions and make the majority of cellular structures. When genes are changed, the encoded proteins are unable to do their normal functions, so genetic disorders can occur. That is why gene therapy is used for treating
defective genes which are responsible for disease development (http://www.ornl.gov/ sci/techresources/ Human_Genome/medicine/genetherapy.shtml).

Researchers are using different techniques for treating defective genes. Of these, a normal gene can be inserted into a non-specific place within the genome to replace a defective gene. Towards this end, a gene carrier called a "vector" is used to deliver the desired gene to the patient's target cells. Nowadays, the most common vector is a virus that has been manipulated to carry normal human DNA. Scientists have tried to take advantage of this and minimize the virus genome to remove disease-causing genes and insert therapeutic genes (http://www.ornl.gov/sci/techresources/Human_Genome/medicine/genetherapy.shtml).

A. Non-viral options for gene therapy

There are several non-viral options for gene delivery. The simplest method is the direct introduction of therapeutic DNA into target cells. The limitation is that it can be used only with certain tissues, is inefficient, and requires a very large amount of DNA. Another non-viral approach includes the creation of an artificial lipid sphere. This liposome, which has the therapeutic DNA, is capable of passing the DNA through the target cell's membrane. Researchers are also experimenting with introducing a 47th (artificial human) chromosome into target cells. This chromosome would exist independently alongside the standard 46 chromosomes--not affecting their workings or causing any mutations. It would be a large vector capable of carrying substantial amounts of genetic code, and scientists are hoping that because of its construction and autonomy, the body's immune systems would not attack it. The limitation is the difficulty in delivering such a large molecule to the nucleus of a target cell

(http://www.ornl.gov/sci/techresources/ Human_Genome/medicine/genetherapy.shtml).

B. Viral Vectors for Gene Therapy

There are several types of viruses that have been used as gene transfer vectors, including adenoviruses, adeno-associated viruses, herpes simplex virus and retroviruses. Each has its own advantages and disadvantages that have been discussed below:

Adenoviral vectors: A class of viruses with double-stranded DNA genomes that cause respiratory, intestinal, and eye infections in humans. The viruses infect with high efficiency, but don't integrate their DNA in the host cell. Adenoviruses are able to transfer genes into most tissues of the body (reviewed in Culver, 1996). These vectors have many advantages; 1) high efficiency of gene transfer regardless of the state of the tissue. In other words, they can insert the genes in both dividing and non-dividing cells. 2) They can produce virus at very high titers, and 3) these viruses can be effectively delivered using aerosol. As in all vector systems, the adenoviral vectors also have many disadvantages, including 1) Lack of tissue specificity. These vectors appear to be able to infect all cells, which could results in toxicity in normal surrounding cells. 2) Lack of ability to integrate into the host cell, thus, long term expression of these vectors is a problem. 3) *In vivo* application of adenovirus vectors results in an immune response to the viral inoculum that can limit the survival of the transduced cells.

Adeno-associated viral (AAV) vectors: AAV are a class of small, single-stranded DNA viruses that can insert their genetic material at a specific site on chromosome 19 (reviewed in Culver, 1996). AAV is considered a dependent virus because it requires co-

infection with another virus to be infectious. The advantages of AAV is its ability to transduce a variety of cell types at high efficiency; also it is not associated with any known human diseases, and it is not immunologically reactive. The limitation of this vector system is that the recombinant vectors may lose their non-random integration which may increase the possibility of insertional mutagenesis. Also, these vectors can carry only very small gene sequences, excluding the possibility of gene therapy with large genes.

Herpes simplex viral (HSV) vectors: HSV is a class of double-stranded DNA viruses that specifically infect neurons. They are lytic, non-integrating DNA viruses and have the ability to generate high viral titers and carry large genes, but their limitation is that they can reactivate latent herpes virus (reviewed in Culver, 1996).

Retroviral vectors: Retroviral vectors have advantages when compared to many other gene transfer systems (reviewed in Miller, 1997). They have the ability to infect a wide range of cell types. They integrate genetic material into the target cells, so that the host cells as well as all the subsequent progeny of the host cell maintains the therapeutic gene stably for the life of the cell. Unlike the other viral system, retroviral vectors can carry large coding capacities and importantly, the host does not elicit an immune response to the retroviral vectors. They can also express the gene of interest at high levels. One of the important advances in retroviral vector design has been the development of a retroviral packaging cell line which provides all the viral structural proteins in *trans* from independent vectors thereby preventing the formation of a replication competent virus (Mann et al., 1983; Watanabe and Temin 1983).

Retroviral vectors based on "lentiviruses" such as HIV and simian immunodeficiency virus (SIV) have the added advantage that they can also infect nondividing cells (Miller, 1997). This is a major requirement for gene therapy in most cases since cells of the target organs of gene therapy, such as heart, liver, lung, muscles, brain, etc. divide very slowly. However, the use of primate lentiviral vectors in humans are not very promising because it raises some important safety concerns such as the generation of replication-competent virus with related endogenous viruses. Therefore, FIV is being explored as one of the possible alternatives for gene therapy. Phylogenetic comparison with other primate lentiviruses has shown that FIV is only distantly related to HIV or SIV (Bachmann, et al. 1997; Elder, et al., 1993; Olmsted, et al., 1989; Olmsted et al., 1992; Talbott et al., 1989). The use of FIV based lentiviral vectors is promising for many other reasons: 1) primates are not the natural host of FIV, 2) FIV can infect and propagate in dividing as well as non-dividing cells (Johnston et al., 1999; Poeschla et al., 1998a; Wang et al., 1999), and 3) feline models are much cheaper and easily available (Miller, et al., 2000).

RNA Encapsidation

RNA encapsidation is the process by which retroviruses package their full-length, unspliced genomic RNA preferentially over spliced viral and cellular RNAs into the virus particles (reviewed in Berkowitz et al., 1996 and Swanstrom and Wills, 1997). The specificity of packaging has been attributed to the interaction between a *cis*-acting sequence, the packaging signal (E or Ψ) on the retroviral RNAs, and the *trans*-acting nucleocapsid region of the Gag polyprotein. The nucleocapsid region of the Gag

polyprotein provides zinc-binding domains that are critical elements for the interaction with the packaging signal present in the retroviral genomic RNA (Dorfman et al., 1993; Gorelick et al., 1993; Sakaguchi et al., 1993; Zhang and Barklis, 1995). The packaging signals, in turn, are thought to interact with the nucleocapsid protein at a structural level, and as such have been shown to fold into complex stem loop structures (Berkowitz et al., 1996). This may partially explain cross-packaging between retroviruses that lack any apparent sequence similarity between each other, such as murine leukemia and spleen necrosis viruses, MLV/SNV (Certo et al., 1998) or HIV/FIV (Browning et al., 2001).

The primary RNA packaging determinants (the major packaging signal) lie at the 5' end of the retroviral genome; however, the exact sequence requirement differs between different retroviruses. For some retroviruses, such as SNV, Rous sarcoma virus (RSV), and feline leukemia virus (FeLV), the major packaging signal lies within the 5' UTR between the pbs and the start of *gag* (reviewed in Linial and Miller, 1990); while in others, the packaging signal seems to extend into the 5' end of the *gag* gene, such as for MLV (Bender et al., 1987), bovine leukemia viruses (BLV) (Mansky et al., 1995), MPMV (Schmidt et al., 2003), and HIV-1 (Parolin et al., 1994). However, other regions of the viral genome have also been implicated as containing minor packaging determinants, such as the 3' UTR (Sorge et al., 1983; Ashcoff et al., 1999; Yu et al., 2000) and the LTR (Murphy and Goff, 1989; Clever et al., 1999; Helga-Maria et al., 1999; Guan et al., 2001a). In general, the simple retroviruses are thought to contain more discrete packaging determinants localized to small segments of the 5' end of the viral genome, while those of the complex retroviruses are thought to be more spread out (Berkowitz et al., 1996; Banks et al., 1997). The only exception to the rule are the

spumaviruses. There is some data that suggests that a central region in *pol* may be involved in RNA packaging (Heinkelein et al., 1998; Erlwein et al., 1998).

With an increase in studies on retroviral packaging determinants, the emerging picture suggests that the location of the primary packaging determinant in relation to the major splice donor (mSD) may be more instructive as to how different retroviruses have developed strategies to differentiate between full length and spliced RNAs. For example, the core packaging signals of the y retroviruses SNV, MLV, and FeLV are located downstream of the mSD in the viral intron, thus allowing for packaging only of the unspliced viral RNA containing the Ψ over spliced mRNAs which lacks it (Watanabe and Tennin, 1982; Adam and Miller, 1988; Burns et al., 1996). Furthermore, in MLV, the genomic RNAs are sorted into two pools---one destined for translation, while the other reserved for packaging (Dorman and Lever, 2000). However, in the α retroviruses such as ALSV, the packaging signal is located upstream of the major SD, allowing for both spliced and unspliced mRNAs to be packaged into the viral genome (Banks et al., 1998). Since *env* mRNA in these viruses is the only spliced species produced, sequestration of this mRNA spatially in the rough endoplasmic reticulum may keep it away from the Gag polyprotein which is expressed from the free ribosomes in the cytoplasm, thus allowing specific packaging of the full-length RNA which is expressed in the cytoplasm (Banks et al., 1999).

Similarly, the core packaging determinant in the β retrovirus, MPMV, lies upstream of the mSD (Guesdon et al., 2001; Schmidt et al., 2003); however, sequences within the 5' end of *gag* seem to be equally important for packaging (Schmidt et al., 2003). Since regions within *gag* are part of the intron in MPMV, the presence of

packaging determinants within the 5' UTR upstream of the SD but extending into *gag* may help MPMV differentiate between spliced and unspliced mRNAs. Using biochemical and phylogenetic analyses, and computer modeling, the first 275 bp of the MPMV 5' UTR and *gag* have been predicted to fold into a complex secondary RNA structure containing eight stem loops (Harrison et al., 1995) (Fig. 1.7, panel A). Mutations within the first four stem loops present within the 5' UTR have revealed that only the sequences within the first stem loop and not the loop structure itself are critical for MPMV RNA encapsidation (Mustafa et al., 2004), while the role of structures within *gag* towards packaging still needs to be determined.

A somewhat different picture is observed with the δ retroviruses, the BLV/HTLV group of viruses that are similar to the spumaviruses in that the major splice donor resides within the R region of the LTR. However, the similarity ends here. Using deletion analysis of the BLV 5' region, these studies have mapped the packaging signal of BLV to two discrete discontinuous regions downstream of the mSD that fold into stem loop structures (Mansky et al., 1995; Mansky and Wisniewski, 1998). The first region comprises of the entire 5' UTR downstream of the pbs and ends within 70 bp of the *gag* region in the matrix domain, while the second region exists more downstream of the *gag* gene in the capsid domain. Region 1 folds into two stem loops that exist within the *gag* sequences only, while Region 2 folds into a single stem loop structure. All three stem loop structures seem important for packaging, and interestingly, replacement of the sequences containing the two regions with homologous regions from either HTLV-1 or HTLV-2 results in substantial packaging, suggesting that the packaging signals of the three viruses function at a structural level. Furthermore, this region allows specific



Figure 1.7. The predicted secondary RNA structure of the 5' end of A) MPMV [adapted from Harrison et al., 1995], B) HIV [adapted from Clever et al., 2002], and C) SIV [adapted from Strappe et al., 2003] genomic RNAs. The major *cis*-acting sequences of the virus are highlighted by the gray shading such as the primer binding site (PBS), dimer intitiation site (DIS), the *gag* initiation codon (AUG), splice donor (SD), polyadenylation (pA), and transactivating region (TAR).

incorporation of both a non-viral heterologous RNA and a chimeric murine leukemia virus retroviral vector RNA to get cross-packaged into BLV particles (Jewel and Mansky, 2005).

Among the lentiviral group of retroviruses, the packaging determinants of HIV-1 are the most extensively studied, presenting a complex picture upon which, most investigators agree. The HIV-1 Ψ contains sequences both upstream and downstream of the major SD and extends into the gag (reviewed in Berkowitz et al., 1996 and Lever, 2000). It is multipartite and known to have higher order RNA structures extending from the transcriptional start site with the TAR loop to the 5' end of gag (Fig. 1.7, panel B) (Harrison et al., 1992 and 1998; Sakaguchi et al., 1993; Das et al., 1997; McBride and Panganiban, 1996 and 1997; Clever et al., 1999). Three complex stem loops are present within the 5' LTR (the TAR, the poly A, and the complex U5/PBS stem loops), while the sequences downstream of the pbs fold into a cluster of four stem loops called SL1-4 thought to contain the major packaging determinants of HIV. Of these four stem loops, SL1 and 3 are considered the most important. SL1 is located upstream to the major SD, SL3 is located downstream of the major SD and the start of gag, and SL4, is located just downstream of the gag start codon. SL1 is known to be responsible for RNA dimer formation, while SL3 has been shown to interact with the nucleocapsid protein. SL3 appears to be the main stem loop which is consistently related to packaging (Lever, 2000), while sequences contained within SL1, may be SL4, and other sequences present in the viral genome may play a role in maintaining the larger secondary RNA structure that forms the complex HIV-1 packaging signal (McBride and Panganiban, 1997; Lever, 2000). However, SL1-4 are not sufficient in themselves in vivo for packaging and other

sequences upstream to SL1 are also required (Helga-Maria, et al., 1999; Kaye, et al. 1995; McBride, et al., 1997; Parolin, et al., 1994). For example, mutation in the stem of the TAR element affect packaging significantly (Helga-Maria et al., 1999; Clever et al., 1999), while sequences within the U5-PBS between the poly A stem loop and SL1 contribute to HIV-1 RNA packaging (McBride et al., 1997, Clever et al., 1999). Additionally, the GU-rich sequences found in the lower stem of poly A stem loop and the U5-PBS complex show contribution to both dimerization and packaging (Russell et al., 2002). Since the major packaging determinant of HIV-1 resides within SL3 (found downstream of the mSD), its presence on full-length genomic RNA ensures specific incorporation into the virions over and above the spliced mRNAs.

The packaging signal of HIV-2 is less well-studied and controversial, probably due to the presence of a functional intron in the HIV-2 LTR (reviewed in Lever, 2000 and Griffin et al., 2001). Although both HIV-1 and 2 cause AIDS and maintain similar genomic organization, the two viruses have limited sequence homology, reflecting their distinct evolutionary origins (Franchini et al., 1987). Like HIV-1, the sequences involved in HIV-2 packaging are spread out and function in a context-dependent manner. Although sequences both upstream and downstream of the major SD have been implicated in the packaging of the HIV-2 genomic RNA (Garzino Demo et al., 1995; McCann and Lever, 1997; Kaye and Lever, 1999; Poeschla et al., 1998b), the HIV-2 packaging signals belong to the ALSV/MPMV category where the core packaging determinants are located upstream of the major SD (Kaye and Lever, 1998 and 1999; McCann and Lever, 1997). This conclusion is strengthened by the observation that HIV- 1 proteins can cross-package not only full length HIV-2 mRNAs non-reciprocally, but also spliced HIV-2 mRNAs (Kaye and Lever, 1998).

Since all HIV-2 mRNAs maintain the core packaging determinant, it has evolved a unique strategy to preferentially incorporate only genomic and not spliced mRNAs into the nascent virus particles. The strategy requires that the genomic RNA act as the template for the translation of the Gag polyprotein that would capture the co-translated RNA in "*cis*" for incorporation into the virus particle (Kaye and Lever, 1999). Named "*cis*-acting encapsidation", this strategy may also partially explain why HIV-2 is unable to encapsidate either HIV-1 or HIV-2 vector RNAs in *trans*.

Finally, the packaging determinants of SIV RNA have started to emerge, but the findings are controversial. SIV is more closely related to HIV-2 than HIV-1, especially in the non-coding regions of their genome (Patel et al., 2003). Like HIV-2, SIV also contains a functional intron within its LTR (Viglianti et al., 1990; Unger et al., 1991). The role of sequences within the 5' UTR towards packaging are still not clear with Patel et al., (2003) suggesting that significant packaging determinants are present both upstream and downstream of the major SD, while others showing that, similar to HIV-2, the core packaging signal of SIV resides upstream of the major SD, perhaps in the U5 stem and the dimerization initiation sequences (DIS) (Fig. 1.7, panel C) (Strappe et al., 2003; Guan et al., 2000 and 2001b; Rizvi and Panganiban, 1993). The location of the packaging signal relative to the 5' methyl cap is ~470 nts (very similar in SIV and HIV-2, but much shorter in HIV-1) Strappe et al., further hypothesize that this distance may be important for packaging, since it may affect the competition between translation and encapsidation that the genomic RNAs must undergo. The important conclusion from

their observations is that for retroviruses, it is not the position of the SD relative to the core packaging determinant that dictates the strategy that the virus may use for encapsidation, rather the distance between the cap site and the core packaging determinants. These observations are being further investigated experimentally.

Since incorporation of the genomic RNA into the budding virion is one of the last steps in the retroviral life cycle, successful packaging of the genomic RNA is dependent upon a host of steps that should have taken place successfully (Fig. 1.8). These steps include binding of the virus to the cell surface, fusion of the two membranes and entry of the viral core into the cytoplasm. This is followed by successful reverse transcription of the incoming genomic RNA into cDNA, transport of the cDNA to the nucleus, its integration into the host genome, its subsequent transcription into mRNAs, and finally successful transport of the full-length genomic RNA from the nucleus to the cytoplasm into the correct cellular compartment where assembly takes place. The emerging paradigm of studying RNA packaging dictates that when understanding the effect of the introduced mutations, one must keep in mind that an alteration of any one of the steps outlined above could negatively affect RNA packaging, without affecting the packaging process directly (Lever, 2000).

Among lentiviruses, our interest has been to define the packaging signal of FIV, a lentivirus of non-primate origin. Not much work has been done to understand how lentiviruses of non-primate species package their RNA genomes. We are also interested in FIV RNA packaging since FIV-based gene transfer vectors are being considered as a



Figure 1.8. The packaging pathway. (For details, see text).

[adapted from Lever, 2000]

potentially practical vector system for human gene therapy (Naldini et al., 1996; Johnston et al., 1999; Poeschla et al., 1998a; Wang et al., 1999; Browning et al., 2001). This is because of the greater evolutionary distance between the primate and feline lentiviruses which may reduce the possibility of generation of recombinants between the two viruses which may encounter each other in the patients being treated. Earlier, we have demonstrated that FIV RNA can be cross-packaged, reverse transcribed, and integrated by the primate lentiviruses such as HIV-1 and SIV in a reciprocal manner (Browning et al., 2001). This observation leads to the urgency of mapping the sequences responsible for FIV RNA packaging in order to eliminate such sequences from the integrated transfer vector, resulting in the establishment of safer and more effective FIV gene transfer vectors.

The packaging signal of FIV seems to reside within the 5' UTR and the first 350 bp of *gag* since these sequences are sufficient to allow efficient transduction of marker genes carried by FIV-based vectors (Browning et al., 2001, Johnston et al., 1999; Poeschla et al., 1998a). These studies were followed by a more systematic deletion analysis of the FIV 5' UTR and *gag* sequences in our laboratory using subgenomic constructs and slot blot analyses on virion and cellular RNAs. These studies revealed that like HIV-1, the FIV packaging determinants were complex and multipartite consisting of two discontinuous core regions, one located in the 5' UTR upstream of the major SD from R/U5 to the first 120 bp of UTR, while the other found in the first 100 bp of the *gag* gene (Browning et al., 2003 a & b). These two core elements were equally important and simultaneously required for packaging since deletion of one of these elements reduced packaging to a similar 4-6 fold level, while deletion of both elements together reduced

packaging to a drastic 40- fold lower level, but not completely (Browning et al., 2003 a & b).

Another group studying FIV RNA packaging confirmed some of these observations, while raising many questions as well (Kemler et al., 2002 & 2004). Using RNase protection assays on virion and cellular RNAs of full length genomic and subgenomic constructs, these studies showed that indeed the first 90 bp of *gag* were critical for FIV RNA packaging, while the region downstream of the mSD and beginning of *gag* was dispensable, in agreement with our observations. However, they suggested that the major FIV packaging determinants were constrained to the R/U5 region with the first 154 bp of the 5'UTR also playing some role. Additionally, they found no role of 875 bp of *env* or the 3' LTR in FIV RNA packaging.

Objectives

This project was undertaken to get a clearer picture of the packaging determinants of FIV. We started with observations that FIV packaging determinants seemed to reside within two discrete regions (Browning et al., 2003 a & b) and asked whether the sequences in between the two core packaging determinants were important for packaging. Since other studies came out during the course of our investigations (Kemler et al., 2002 & 2004), we further asked what the role of the FIV LTR sequences was towards packaging and which sequences constituted the core packaging determinants.

To answer these questions, two independent approaches were taken to fine map FIV RNA packaging determinants using both genetic and structural approaches:

- An incremental deletion analysis was conducted of the region in between the two core regions in subgenomic constructs. In a separate series, the deleted region was substituted simultaneously with heterologous sequences of the same length to determine whether the spacing between the two core regions was important or the actual sequences themselves (Chapter III).
- 2) The R/U5 region at the 5' end and the 3' LTR at the end of the FIV genome were independently tested in subgenomic and heterologous vectors for their effects on FIV RNA packaging (Chapter IV).

These vectors were tested in an *in vivo* packaging assay using semi-quantitative RT-PCR analysis of virion and cytoplasmic RNAs. Test of these constructs revealed that, as suspected earlier, FIV packaging determinants are complex and multipartite. More specifically, we found that:

- The first ~ 150 bp of the 5' UTR and ~ first 100 bp of gag constitute the core packaging determinants (Chapters III & IV).
- The region in between the two core packaging determinants is neither required for vector RNA packaging nor propagation of the FIV transfer vector RNA (Chapter III).
- FIV R/U5 contains minor packaging determinants that increase the packaging of FIV transfer vector RNAs by 2-3 fold (Chapter IV).
- Contrary to published findings, the FIV 3' LTR and in particular the U3 region harbors packaging determinants of minor nature (Chapter IV).

Finally, using computer predictions of sequences found to be important for FIV RNA packaging in our functional assays, we identified a specific structural element within the 5' end of the FIV genome that may have a critical role in FIV RNA packaging.

Chapter II

MATERIALS & METHODS

Genome Numbering System

Nucleotide designation for FIV Petaluma (34TF10) strain is based on GenBank accession number M25381 (Talbott, *et al*, 1989).

Plasmid Construction

FIV packaging construct. The packaging construct, MB22 which provides the viral structural proteins, has been described previously (Browning et al., 2001) (Fig. II.1). In brief, it uses the human cytomegalovirus (hCMV) as promoter to express all the genes of FIV except *env* and *orf2*, and uses the bovine growth hormone (BGH) poly A sequences to stop transcription.

Envelope expression construct. The vesicular stomatitis virus (VSV) envelope protein G expression construct (VSV-G), MD.G, was provided by Dr. Didier Trono (Salk Institute, La Jolla, CA) and has been described previously (Naldini, *et al*, 1996).

FIV control transfer vector. The control vector, MB15, has been described previously (Browning et al., 2001) (Fig. II.1). In brief, it contains the entire 270 bp of 5' untranslated region (UTR), 100 bp of *gag* and all the necessary *cis*-acting sequences needed for packaging, reverse transcription and integration.

Transfer vectors with deletions between the two core regions. AG002 through AG004 are transfer vectors containing deletions in the 5' UTR. Of the 270 bp 5' UTR, we maintained 90, 120 and 150 bp from the 5' end of the 5' UTR while deleting the 180, 150, 120 bp upstream of the *gag* gene, respectively. These vectors were generated



Figure II.1. Schematic representation of FIV packaging construct MB22 and FIV control transfer vector MB15. CMV, human cytomegalovirus promoter-enhancer; SV, simian virus 40 early promoter; *hyg^r*, *hygromycin B phosphotransferase* gene; CTE, constitutive transport element of MPMV; Ψ packaging signal.

through splice overlap extension (SOE) PCR (Gibbs et al., 1994) using TR394 as a template. To generate these vectors, two individual PCRs were performed using hybrid primers which resulted in two overlapping PCR products (Fig. II.2). These two primary products were annealed at complementary regions and amplified using outer primers. Deletions in the 5' UTR were generated using OTR405 as the sense primer (S; 5' CGCG TTGACATTG ATTAT 3'; nt 229-246 of pRcCMV vector, Invitrogen, Carlsbad, CA, representing the beginning of CMV promoter region) and hybrid primers with *gag* tails listed as follows (*gag* tails shown in lowercase followed by FIV 5' UTR sequences shown in uppercase):

90 bp deletion: OTR568 (AS; 5' ccccatTAGGTCAGCAGGAGT 3'; 6 bp tail from *gag* ATG/nt 432-446 of FIV 5' UTR).

120 bp deletion: OTR569 (AS; 5' ccccatGTTAGCAGCGTCTGC 3'; 6 bp tail from gag ATG/nt 462-476 of FIV 5' UTR).

150 bp deletion: OTR570 (AS; 5' ccccatCTCGAGTCCGCTTCA 3'; 6 bp tail from *Gag* ATG/nt 492-505 of FIV 5' UTR).

The 100 bp of *gag* were generated using TR394 as a template and OTR503 as the antisense primer (AS; 5' aaaaagcggccgcTCCCTTCTCCAAATTTTTACTCTTCC 3'; FIV *gag* nt 727-701, sequences in lowercase represent artificial sites created for cloning purposes while FIV sequences are shown in upper case) and hybrid sense primers containing 5' UTR tails corresponding to the deletions listed as follows (5' UTR tails shown in lowercase followed by *gag* sequences shown in uppercase): 90 bp deletion: OTR571 (S; 5' gacctaATGGGGAATGGACAG 3'; 6 bp tail of 5' UTR

corresponding to the 90 bp deletion /nt 628-642 in gag).



Figure II.2. Schematic representation of transfer vectors containing deletions between the two core regions. The 5' UTR and *gag* fragments were amplified separately using hybrid primers. The UTR primers contained *gag* tails and the *gag* primers contained UTR tails, resulting in products A & B. These two products were annealed and re-amplified using outer primers, resulting in a PCR product containing the required deletions. These products were digested and ligated back to create the final vectors, AG002-AG004. CMV, human cytomegalovirus promoter-enhancer; SV, simian virus 40 early promoter; *hyg'*, *hygromycin B phosphotransferase* gene; CTE, constitutive transport element of MPMV.

120 bp deletion: OTR572 (S; 5' gctaacATGGGGAATGGACAG 3'; 6 bp tail of 5' UTR corresponding to the 120 bp deletion/nt 628-642 in *gag*).

150 bp deletion: OTR573 (S; 5' ctcgagATGGGGAATGGACAG 3'; 6 bp tail of 5' UTR corresponding to the 150 bp deletion /nt 628-642 in gag).

The two primary products were combined and re-amplified using the outer primers OTR405 and OTR503, resulting in the final products containing the deletions (Fig. II.2). These products were digested with *Spe*I and *Not*I and ligated to the similarly digested large fragment of MTB, generating AG002-AG004. MTB has been described previously (Browning, et al, 2003a) and contains the hCMV promoter, 270 bp of 5' UTR, the SV-Hygro cassette and FIV 3' LTR.

Transfer vectors with simultaneous deletions/insertions between the two core regions. AG013 through AG015 were generated through multiple stages of cloning using PCR amplification (Fig. II.3). The 100 bp of *gag* were amplified using TR394 as template, the sense primer OTR574 (S; 5' aaaaaaagcggccgcATGGGGAATGGACAG GGGCGA 3'; nt 628-648 in FIV *gag*, FIV sequences are shown in upper case, while sequences in lowercase represent artificial sites created for cloning purpose) and the antisense primer OTR575 (AS; 5' ccccccatcgatTCC CTTCTCCAAATTTTTACTCT 3'; nt 727-701 in FIV *gag*). The PCR products were digested with *Not*1 and *Cla*1 and ligated to the similarly digested large fragment of MB23, a vector similar to MTB but without the SV-Hygro cassette, resulting in AG006. The fragments of the 5' UTR were amplified using TR394 as template and the sense primer OTR405. The deletions in the 5' UTR were generated using the antisense primers listed as follows (FIV sequences are



Figure II.3. Schematic representation of transfer vectors with simultaneous deletions/insertions between the two core regions (AG013-AG015). These transfer vectors maintained 90, 120 or 150 bp of 5' UTR with the addition of 180, 150, 120 bp of heterologous sequences in the presence of 100 bp of gag. CMV, human cytomegalovirus promoter-enhancer; SV, simian virus 40 early promoter; *hyg'*, *hygromycin B* phosphotransferase gene; CTE, constitutive transport element of MPMV.

shown in upper case while sequences in lowercase represent artificial sites created for cloning purpose):

90 bp deletion: OTR576 (AS; 5' aaaaaagcggccgcTAGGTCAGCAGGAGTTCTGCT 3'; nt 426-446 in FIV 5' UTR).

120 bp deletion: OTR577 (AS; 5' aaaaaagcggccgcGTTAGCAGCGTCTGCTACTGC 3'; nt 456-476 in FIV 5' UTR).

150 bp deletion: OTR584 (AS; 5' aaaaaagcggccgcCTCGAGTCCGCTTCACTAGAG 3'; nt 486-506 in FIV 5' UTR).

The resulting PCR products were digested with *Spe*I and *Not*I and ligated to the similarly digested large fragment of AG006, creating AG007, AG008 and AG009 followed by the insertion of the SV-Hygro cassette into the *Cla*I site, generating AG010 through AG012. The heterologous sequences were generated by PCR amplification using pcDNA3 as template and the antisense primer OTR480 (AS; 5' aaaaaagcggccgcgaattcCAAGTTTA CTCATATACTTTAGATTGAT 3'; pcDNA3 nt 4440-4411 on Invitrogen's map) and the sense primers listed below (sequences in lowercase represent artificial sites created for cloning purpose, while pcDNA3 sequences are shown in upper case):

120 bp insertion: OTR583 (S; 5' aaaaaagcggccgcggatccGAACGAAAACTCAC GTTAAGGGAT 3'; nt 4321-4344 of pcDNA3).

150 bp insertion: OTR578 (S; 5' aaaaaagcggccgcggatccTGATCTTTTCTACG GGGTCTGACG 3'; nt 4290-4313 of pCDNA3).

180 bp insertion: OTR579 (S; 5' aaaaaagcggccgcggatccCAGAAAAAAAGGAT CTCAAGAAGA 3'; nt 4201-4284 of pCDNA3).

The PCR products were digested with *Not*I and ligated to the similarly digested large fragment of AG010-AG012, resulting in the final clones AG013 through AG015.

Transfer vectors testing the R/U5 region. To study the effect of the R/U5 region independently on packaging, various constructs were made, either with or without the R/U5 region, in both the heterologous and homologous contexts (Fig. II.4). *R/U5 in the heterologous context*. AG029 is transfer vector containing the R/U5 region only in pcDNA3 as a backbone. The R/U5 region was amplified using pCMV/RU5 as a template (Mustafa, et al., 2005), OTR399 as the sense primer (S; 5' cccaagettgagetcTGTGAAACTTCGAG GAGTCTC 3'; FIV 5' LTR nt 203-223, U3/R junction), (lowercase denotes artificial sites created for cloning purpose, while FIV sequences are shown in upper case) and OTR459 as the antisense primer (AS; 5' aaaaaageggccgcACTGCGAAGTTCTCGG CCCGG 3'; FIV nt 357-337, end of U5). The resulting PCR product was digested with *Hind*III and *Not*I, ligated to the similarly digested large fragment of pcDNA3, followed by insertion of the SV-Hygro cassette at the *Xba*I site, generating AG029.

R/U5 + 90, 120, or 150 bp of 5' UTR + 100 bp gag in the heterologous context. These vectors were made through multiple stages of cloning by modifying pcDNA3 where the region between *Nde*I site (nt 485) and the artificially created *Cla*I site (nt 951) was removed and replaced by the region between the *Nde*I site and the *Cla*I site of AG007 through AG009 (consisting of R/U5 + 90, 120, or 150 bp of FIV 5' UTR + 100 bp gag, respectively). This was followed by insertion of the SV-hygro cassette at the *Xba*I site (nt 984) of pcDNA3, generating AG026, AG027 and AG028.



Figure II.4. Schematic representation of constructs testing the effect of R/U5 region on packaging. A) Transfer vectors with R/U5 region in heterologous context. B) Transfer vectors lacking the R/U5 region in the heterologous context. C) Transfer vectors with or without R/U5 region in the homologous context. CMV, human cytomegalovirus promoter-enhancer; SV, simian virus 40 early promoter; *hyg'*, *hygromycin B phosphotransferase* gene; CTE, constitutive transport element of MPMV.

R/U5 + 270 bp of 5' UTR + 100 bp gag in the heterologous context. This vector was constructed by cloning the region between the SpeI and NotI sites of MB15 (consisting of R/U5, 270 bp of 5' UTR and 100 bp of gag) into the SpeI (nt 250) and NotI (nt 966) of pcDNA3. This was followed by insertion of the SV-Hygro cassette at the XbaI site (nt 984) of pcDNA3, generating AG030.

90, 120, or 150 bp of 5' UTR + *100 bp gag without R/U5 in the heterologous context.* These vectors were generated by modifying pcDNA3 where the region between *Kpn*I site (nt 900) and the artificially created *Cla*I site (nt 951) was replaced by the region between the artificially created *Kpn*I site (just after the end of U5) and *Cla*I site of AG007 through AG009 containing only the 90, 120, or 150 bp of 5' UTR and 100 bp of *gag*,

respectively. This was followed by the insertion of the SV-Hygro cassette at the *Xba*I site (nt 984) of pcDNA3, generating AG040, AG041 and AG042.

270 bp of 5' UTR + 100 bp gag without R/U5 in the heterologous context. This vector was constructed by deleting the region between the *EcoRV* site (nt 951) and *Not*I site (nt 966) of pcDNA3 and replacing it by the region between *Sfo*I site (just after the end of U5) and *Not*I site of MB15, which contains only 270 bp of 5' UTR and 100 bp of gag. This was followed by insertion of the SV- Hygro cassette at the *Xba*I site (nt 984) of pcDNA3, generating AG031.

R/U5 in the homologous context. This vector was constructed by deleting the region between the *SfoI* site (nt 359 of FIV just after the end of U5) and *NotI* site of MTB, thus deleting the entire 5' UTR and religating the backbone on its own, generating AG021 which now contains only the R/U5 region in the presence of the SV-Hygro cassette and the 3' FIV LTR.

270 hp of 5' UTR + 100 hp gag without R/U5 in the homologous context. This vector was made through several steps of cloning in which the region between SfoI (nt 359, just after the end of U5) and EcoRI of MB15 was subcloned into the EcoRV and EcoRI sites of pIC19H. The same region was next lifted by digesting the subclone with NotI and partial SacI digest and ligated into the same sites of MB23, followed by insertion of the SV-Hygro cassette at the ClaI site, generating AG039.

Transfer vectors testing the 3' LTR. To study the effect of 3' LTR on packaging, different constructs were made to determine whether it has any contribution to the encapsidation of FIV RNA into the virus particles (Fig. II.5).

3' LTR in the homologous context. This vector was made by deleting the region between the Spel and Notl sites of MTB and religating the backbone on its own, removing all the 5' cis acting sequences, generating AG001.

U3/R/U5 in the heterologous context. This vector was made by PCR amplifying the U3/R/U5 region using pCMV/RU5 as the template, OTR657 as the sense primer (S; 5' gcggatccTGGGATGAGTATTGGAACCCT 3'; nt 9120-9140 of FIV; FIV sequences are shown in upper case while lowercase denotes artificial sites created for cloning purposes) and OTR642 as the antisense primer (AS; 5' ccatcgatTGCGAAGTTCTCGGC CCGGATTC 3'; nt 9474- 9452 FIV). The resulting PCR product was digested with *BamH*I and *Cla*I and cloned into the same sites of pcDNA3, generating AG051. *U3/R in the heterologous context.* This vector was made by PCR amplifying the U3/R region using pCMV/RU5 as the template, OTR657 as the sense primer and OTR658 as the antisense primer (AS; 5' ccatcgatGGTTCAATCTCA AATATTTATTG 3'; nt 9409-



Figure II.5. Schematic representation of transfer vectors testing the effect of 3' LTR on packaging. The numbers represent the regions of FIV strain 34TF10 retained in the vectors. CMV, human cytomegalovirus promoter-enhancer; SV, simian virus 40 early promoter; *hyg'*, *hygromycin B phosphotransferase* gene; CTE, constitutive transport element of MPMV.

9387 of FIV; FIV sequences are shown in upper case while lowercase denotes artificial sites created for cloning purpose). The resulting PCR product was digested with *BamH*I and *Cla*I and cloned into the same sites of pcDNA3, generating AG052.

U3/ truncated R (just before poly A) in the heterologous context. This vector was made by PCR amplifying the U3/truncated R region using pCMV/RU5 as the template, OTR657 as the sense primer and OTR659 as the antisense primer (AS; 5' ccatcgatCTGTGGGA GCCTCAAGGG 3'; nt 9383-9366 of FIV, FIV sequences are shown in upper case while lowercase denotes artificial sites created for cloning purpose). The resulting PCR product was digested with *BamH*I and *Cla*I and cloned into the same sites of pcDNA3, generating AG053.

Transfections and Infections of Cells

293T and Hela T4 cells were maintained at 37 °C in Dulbecco's modified Eagle's medium (DMEM) supplemented with 10% FBS and 7% calf serum, respectively, from Hyclone (Logan, UT). 293T cells were transfected using the calcium phosphate method as described in Mustafa et al., 2005. Briefly, the cells were plated into 6-wells plates at a concentration of 4 x 10^5 cells per well a day before the transfection. The next day, media was changed 2 hours before the start of transfections. A DNA cocktail was prepared with 3 µg of each DNA in the case of transfections with three plasmids, and around 4.5 µg of each DNA in the case of two plasmids. As a control for transfection efficiency, the firefly luciferase expression vector, pGL3 control (Promega, Madison, WI), was used at a concentration of 250 ng/well. Plasmid DNA was diluted in a DNA cocktail buffer (250 mM CaCl₂, 150 mM NaCl, 10 mM Tris-Cl, pH 7.4, and 1 mM EDTA) and calcium

phosphate precipitate was formed using the 2X Transfection Buffer (50 mM HEPES, 180 mM NaCl, 4 mM sodium phosphate, pH 7). The precipitate was formed by adding the DNA cocktail to the 2X Transfection Buffer while bubbling, followed by vortexing and incubation at room temperature for 30-40 minutes. After the incubation, the precipitate was added to the 293T cells and incubated for 4 hours at 37°C. Transfections were stopped by washing the cells twice with PBS, followed by the addition of fresh media.

The media was changed the next day and lowered to 1.5 ml per well. In case of infections, virus released in the supernatants was harvested 72 hours post transfection and used to infect HeLa T4 cells using DEAE Dextran (10 mg/ml). Hygromycin resistant colonies were selected for 10-12 days, stained with crystal violet dye, and counted (Browning et al., 2001).

Luciferase Assays

To determine the transfection efficiency in the transfected cultures, a portion of the cells were used to detect the luciferase activity using the Dual-Luciferase Reporter Assay System (Promega) and Turner TD-20e luminometer (Turner Designs, Inc. Sunnyvale, CA). Briefly, transfected cells from a 6-well plate were trypsinized, washed once in cold PBS, and resuspended in 1 ml cold PBS. One tenth of these cells were used to prepare cell lysate using 100 µl of 1X Passive Lysis Buffer (Promega). Cell membranes were disrupted via three cycles of freeze/thaw (2 minutes in dry ice/2 minutes in 37°C water bath). Cellular debris was pelleted via microcentrifuging the lysates at 4°C for 5 minutes, followed by transfer of the clarified lysates to new eppendorf tubes. A portion of the lysate was used subsequently in the luciferase assay using 25 µl of the LARII reagent

provided in the kit. The luciferase readings were performed using a 5 seconds delay and 20 seconds integration time. Values obtained from the luciferase assay were normalized to the amount of protein used and these values were finally used to normalize the values obtained in the various assays including virus titration assay (colony forming units/ml) as well as packaging efficiencies (absorption units) determined from the Southern blots. The protein concentrations in the lysates were determined using the protein assay reagent (BioRad, Hercules, CA). Briefly, 2 µl of concentrated or 1:10 dilution of the cell lysate was tested in the protein assay against a standard curve prepared from BSA ranging from 0 µg to 16 µg protein.

Virus Isolation

The supernatants collected from the transfected cells were clarified away from the cellular debris by low-speed centrifugation at 4000 rpm for 30 minutes. This was followed by pelleting the viral particles by ultracentrifugation using SW28 rotor at 24,000 rpm for 2 hours at 4°C. Viral pellets were resuspended in 125 μ l of TNE buffer (50 mM Tris-Cl, pH7.4, 100 mM NaCl, and 1 mM EDTA, pH 8.0). One third (~ 40 μ l) was saved for analysis of virus particles by Western blots, while the remaining two-thirds (~ 80 μ l) was used to isolate virion RNA using the Trizol LS reagent (Molecular Research Center, OH).

Nucleocytoplasmic Fraction of Transfected Cells

To isolate cytoplasmic RNA, 90% of the trypsinized transfected cells were resuspended in cold diethylpyrocarbonate (DEPC)- treated RLN buffer (50 mM Tris pH 8, 140 mM NaCl, 1.5 mM MgCl₂) supplemented with 0.5 % NP40 and incubated on ice for 5 minutes to gently lyse the cells without disrupting the nuclei. The intact nuclei were gently spun down at 300X g for 2 minutes and 70% of the cytoplasmic fractions were carefully moved to fresh eppendorf tubes containing 1 ml Trizol reagent for subsequent RNA isolation.

RNA Isolation

Cytoplasmic and viral RNAs were isolated from the transfected cells 72 hours post transfection using the Trizol Reagent (Invitrogen Life Technologies). Virions in TNE buffer were lysed in 500 μ l of Trizol LS reagent containing 8 μ l of polyacryl (used as a carrier) prior to RNA isolation, while 90% of the transfected cells were lysed in 1 ml of Trizol. Briefly, cytoplasmic or viral lysates in Trizol were incubated at room temperature for 5 minutes followed by the addition of chloroform and vigorous shaking for 15 seconds and incubation at room temperature for 2-3 minutes. Phases were separated by centrifugation at 12000X g for 15 minutes, and 90% of the aqueous phase (clear in colour) was transferred to fresh eppendorf tubes containing 500 μ l of isopropanol to precipitate RNA. The RNA was precipitated by mixing and incubating the tubes at room temperature for 10 minutes and centrifugation at 12000X g for 10 minutes to pellet down the RNA. The pellets were washed once with 70 % ethanol and centrifuged at 7500X g for 5 minutes. Pelleted RNA was resuspended in nuclease-free water, its concentration determined by spectrophotometry, and stored at -80 till further use.

RT-PCR

2.5 µg of cytoplasmic or one fifth of viral RNA was DNased-treated using 2-3 units of amplification grade DNase I (Invitrogen Life Technologies) at 37° C for 1 hour. DNase was heat inactivated at 65°C for 10 minutes after the addition of EDTA to 2.5 mM. One µl of the DNased RNAs were tested in PCRs using hygromycin-specific primers (Table II.1) to confirm the absence of DNA prior to cDNA synthesis. This was followed by cDNA synthesis by first denaturing the RNA in the presence of dNTPs and random hexamer primer for 5 minutes at 65°C, followed by quick cooling on ice for 5 minutes. After spinning the components to the bottom of the tube, cDNAs were made by using reverse transcription reactions set up with 100 units of Moloney Murine Leukemia virus reverse transcriptase (Invitrogen Life Technologies) in the presence of 40 units of RNasin RNase Inhibitor (Promega) for one hour at 42 °C. cDNAs were amplified using the SuperMix PCR cocktail (Invitrogen Life Technologies) supplemented with additional MgCl₂ or Taq polymerase (Applied Biosystems, California, USA). The PCRs for unspliced actin were performed as a multiplex in the presence of primer competimers for 18 S ribosomal RNA as a control for cDNA addition (18S Quantum competimer control, Ambion, TX).

PCR reactions were performed for 20-30 cycles at various annealing temperatures depending upon the melting temperature of the primer set used. The reactions were performed using the Perkin-Elmer 9700 thermocycler with MicroAmp tubes. Products of PCR were analyzed on 2-4% agarose gels in the presence of ethidium bromide. The gels were photographed and scanned using the Biometra gel documentation system (Whatman Biometra, Gottingen, Germany). Some of the gels were further processed for Southern

Table II.1: Primers used in RT-PCR and PCRs

Primer	The second s		
name	Sequences	Description	
OTR366 (+)	5' CGGCACTTTGCATCGGCC 3'	nt 423-440, hygromycin gene	
OTR367 (-)	5' CGGCGATCCTGCAAGCTC 3'	nt 1010-993 hygromycin gene	
OTR537 (+)	5' CATGTTTGTGATGGGTGTGAACCA 3'	nt 983-1005 of GAPDH	
OTR538 (-)	5' GTTGCTGTAGCCGTATTCATTGTC 3'	nt 427-405 of GAPDH	
OTR580 (+)	5' TGAGCTGCGTGTGGCTCC 3'	Spliced actin mRNA-specific primer (S) (Tan et al., 1995)	
OTR581 (-)	5' GGCATGGGGGGGGGGGGGGCATACC 3'	Spliced or unspliced actin mRNA-specific primer (A) (Tan	
THE PARTY	sales a localization in hybrid and pay if is service there is made in order dates	et al., 1995)	
OTR 582 (+)	5' CCAGTGGCTTCCCCAGTG 3'	Unspliced actin mRNA-specific primer (s-1) (Tan et al.,	
		1995)	
OTR600 (+)	5' GAACCCTGTCGAGTATC GTG 3'	nt 286 - 306 of FIV 5' LTR	
OTR601 (-)	5' CTGGTTGCTGACTAATTGAG 3'	nt 1840-1821 of pCDNA3 or nt 244 -263 of TAR SV40	
OTR660 (+)	5' GAGGACTTTTGAGTTCTCCCTTGAGGC 3'	nt 230-256 of FIV	

OTR 459 (-)	5' aaaaaageggeegeACTGCGAAGTTCTCGGCCCGG 3' *	FIV nt 357-337 (immediately before pbs).	
OTR 467 (+)	5' aaaaaagcggccgcGTTGGCGCCCGAACAGGGACT 3' *	nt 356-376 of FIV 34TF10	
OTR662 (-)	5' AGCAGGAGTTCTGCTTAACAGCTTTC 3' *	nt 440-415 of FIV	90 bp Probe
OTR627 (+)	5' TGGGATGAGTATTGGAACCC 3'	nt 1-20 of FIV Petaluma 5' LTR	U3 Probe
OTR517 (-)	5' gggcccaaattcgaaCTCGAAGTTTCACAAAGCACTGGT 3' *	nt 9335-9312 of FIV 34TF10 3' LTR	
OTR574 (+)	5' aaaaaageggeegeATGGGGAATGGACAGGGGCGA 3' *	nt 628-648 of FIV gag	
OTR503 (-)	5' aaaaaageggeegeTCCCTTCTCCAAATTTTTTACTCTTCC 3'*	nt 727-701of FIV gag	gug Probe
OTR 516 (+)	5' ttcgaatttgggcccGAGTCTCTTTGTTGAGGACTTTTG 3' *	nt 9336-9359 of FIV 34TF10 3' LTR	
OTR460 (-)	5' aaaaaageggeegeAAGTCCCTGTTCGGGCGCCAA 3' *	nt 377-357 of FIV 34TF10	R/U5 Probe

* FIV sequences are shown in uppercase while lowercase denotes sequences used for cloning purposes
blot analysis. The primers used in the PCR amplifications are listed in Table II.1.

Southern Blot Analysis

The gels designated for Southern blotting were prepared for capillary transfer overnight in 20X SSC (3 M NaCl/0.3 M sodium citrate) by denaturation (2X for 20 minutes at room temperature in 1.5 M NaCI/0.5 N NaOH) and neutralization (2X for 20 minutes at room temperature in 1.5 M NaCl/0.5 M Tris-Cl) using Hybond N+ membranes (Amersham Biosciences, UK). The next day, the membranes were cross-linked at 70,000 micro-joules (UV crosslinker BLX/254, Life Technologies) and hybridization performed by using the AlkPhos Direct Labeling Kit (Amersham, Arlington Heights, IL). Probes for hybridization were generated by PCR amplification and gel purification of the probe fragment (Qiagen gel extraction kit,) followed by their quantitation on agarose gels. The DNA fragments were labeled with alkaline phosphatase as specified in the kit. Briefly, 250-300 ng of purified DNA fragment was boiled for 5 minutes in a vigorously boiling water bath and snap frozen on ice for 5 minutes. Denatured DNA was spun down by brief (5 seconds) microcentrifugation and conjugated to alkaline phosphatase as per manufacturer's directions. The blots were prehybridized at 55°C in a pre-warmed hybridization buffer for 30 minutes to 1 hour followed by addition of extra hybridization buffer containing the probe. Blots were hybridized overnight at 55°C with gentle shaking, washed twice at 55°C with primary wash buffer (2M urea, 1% SDS, 50mM Na phosphate pH 7.0, 150 mM NaCL, 1 mM MgCl₂, 0.2 % blocking reagent), for 10 minutes and twice at room temperature with 1X secondary wash buffer (0.1 M Tris base, 0.2 M NaCl, pH 10.0) for 5 minutes and developed using the CDP-Star chemiluminescent detection

reagent. The blots were exposed to Fuji Medical X-ray film (HR-G30, Germany) for various lengths of times, digitized using the Biometra gel documentation system (Whatman Biometra, Gottingen, Germany), and analyzed for optical densities using the BioDoc Analyze software version 2.0.

Western Blot Analysis

Viral proteins were analyzed by Western blot analysis using a polyclonal antisera (QB2 fraction) from cats infected with the Petaluma strain of FIV (kindly provided by Dr. Ellen Collisson, Texas A&M University, College Station, TX). Briefly, virus particles in the TNE buffer were lysed in an equal volume of 2X SDS buffer along with betamercaptoethanol (β-me), boiled for 4 minutes, and loaded onto 8% SDSpolyacrylamide gels. The proteins were electrophoresed at 120 V for 1 hour and 45 minutes and transferred overnight using wet transfer buffer onto Hybond-P membranes (Amersham, Biosciences). The filters were blocked for one hour at room temperature in 5% dried milk (Regilait, 0% Fat, France) in 1X PBS-0.1% Tween buffer, followed by incubation in the polyclonal primary antibody QBT2 (1:2,500 dilution in PBS-Tween-1% milk) for 1 hour at room temperature. The blots were then washed three times in PBS-0.1% Tween for 5 minutes each, followed by incubation in the secondary antibody (goat anti-cat HRP) at 1:10,000 dilution for 1 hour at room temperature. The blots were washed three times using PBS-0.1% Tween buffer and developed using the Super Signal West Pico Chemiluminescent Substrate kit (PIERCE, Rockford, IL) and exposed to Fuji Medical X-ray film for various lengths of time.

Secondary RNA Structural Analysis

The folding potential of the various FIV sequences studied was tested by using the RNA structure sequence analysis software (version 3.6) (Mathews et al. 1999) that uses algorithms based on free energy minimization to predict the secondary RNA structure.

Chapter III

RESULTS & DISCUSSION I

Role of sequences in between the core packaging determinants in FIV RNA packaging

Our previous deletion analysis studies have revealed the presence of two core sequence elements within the 5' end of the FIV genome that contribute significantly to FIV RNA packaging (Fig. III.1). The first region consists of sequences from the start of the FIV transcript in the "R" region to within the first ~120 bp of 5' UTR and the second region consists of the first 100 bp of gag (Browning et al., 2003 a & b). However, it has not been clear what was the contribution of sequences in between these core elements towards packaging. Were these sequences completely dispensable or perhaps necessary to maintain any putative secondary RNA structure that the core region may fold into. Therefore, starting with our previously defined control vector, MB15 (Fig. III.2), that contains the R/U5, the entire 270 bp of the 5' UTR, and 100 bp of gag, we generated a new series of transfer vectors, AG002-AG004, that maintained the R/U5 and 100 bp of gag, but kept only the first 90, 120 or 150 bp of the 5' UTR, thus generating deletions of 180, 150, and 120 bp, respectively, between the core packaging determinants (Fig. III.2). In a second series of vectors, AG013-AG015, the deletions were replaced with heterologous sequences of same lengths from an expression vector, pcDNA3, to further determine whether the deleted/substituted region had a role at the structural level, perhaps as a spacer (Fig.III.2).

The two series of deletion and deletion/substitution vectors were tested for their ability to be packaged by the FIV proteins using our *in vivo* packaging assay (Fig. III.3) (Browning et al., 2001). Briefly, the assay consisted of MB22, a packaging construct that provides the FIV gag/pol structural proteins and MD.G, a VSV-G Env expression



Figure III.1. Two discontinuous regions define the core packaging determinants of FIV. The first region consists of sequences from the start of the FIV transcript in the "R" region to within the first \sim 120 bp of 5' UTR and the second region consists of the first 100 bp of *gag* (Browning et al., 2003 a & b).



Figure III.2. Test of the region intervening the core packaging determinants for effects on packaging. Schematic representation of A) complete FIV genome, B) MB15, the control transfer vector, C) two core elements required for efficient RNA packaging. The arrow encompasses the sequences in between these two core element, and D) transfer vectors with deletions between the two core elements (AG002-AG004) and vectors with simultaneous deletions/insertions between the two core elements (AG013-AG015).



Figure III.3. Design of the *in vivo* packaging assay. RNA expressed from the transfer vector is the packageable RNA because it contains the packaging signal, ψ , and the hygromycin resistance gene as a selectable marker. The Gag/Pol packaging construct expresses the structural proteins, and the Env expression construct expresses the vesicular stomatitis glycoprotein (VSV-G) necessary for viral particles to infect cells expressing the corresponding receptor. The three plasmids are transfected together in the "producer" 293T cells that generate the "helper free" virus stocks containing the transfer vector RNA which is then used to infect target cells. Since these virions have only the transfer vector RNA as the genome, they are deficient for further rounds of replication, resulting only in a single round of replication. The successfully infected cells are selected by the use of hygromycin and the hygromycin-resistant colonies obtained are proportional to the virus titer.

plasmid that provides the *env* glycoproteins. Together, the two plasmids express the structural genes necessary for the formation of the virus particle. The transfer vectors provided the packageable RNAs with various deletions or insertions in the packaging signal. In addition, they carried the SV-Hygro cassette as a marker gene and a chimeric 5' FIV LTR where the U3 had been replaced by the hCMV to ensure successful function in human cells (Poeschla et al. 1998a; Browning et al., 2001). Additionally, the transfer vectors contain the 3' FIV LTR for transcript termination as well as successful reverse transcription and integration, and the MPMV CTE necessary for efficient nucleocytoplasmic transport of the transfer vector RNAs (Bray et al., 1994; Zolotukhin et al., 1994; Browning et al., 2001).

The region in between the two core packaging determinants is not necessary for packaging. The three-plasmid *trans* complementation assay was used to test the ability of the new series of transfer vectors to be packaged and propagated by FIV particles generated from MB22. Each transfer vector was co-transfected with MB22 and MD.G into 293T cells along with a luciferase expression vector to monitor transfection efficiencies in the transfected cells. Virus was harvested 72 hours post transfection and processed for viral RNA and proteins, as well as used to infect HelaT4 cells to determine the transduction efficiency of the packaged RNA. The infected cells were selected with media containing Hygromycin B to identify successfully transduced cells by the presence of hygromycin resistant colonies 10 days post infection. The transfected 293T cells were further fractionated into nuclear and cytoplasmic fractions for extraction of cytoplasmic RNA to determine successful transport of transfer vector RNAs, while whole cell protein extracts were isolated for determination of transfection efficiencies.

First we analyzed the amount of transfer vector RNAs packaged into viral particles (Fig. III.4, panel A). Towards this end, RNA was extracted from two thirds of the pelleted virions, a portion of which was DNase-treated, reverse transcribed and used in PCR amplifications using primers across the R/U5 and SV40 promoter. Portions of the DNased RNA were tested by PCR to confirm the absence of plasmid DNA (Fig. III.4, panel A). To ensure that the amplifications were in the linear range of detection, PCRs were conducted for 20, 25, and 30 cycles, the resulting products were size fractionated on agarose gels, transferred onto nylon membranes, and hybridized with an R/U5 probe using a non-radioactive alkaline phosphatase labeling method (see Materials and Methods for details). The chemilluminescent signals emitted were captured on X-ray films for various lengths of time and digitized using the Biometra gel documentation system.

As observed in Fig.III.4, panel A, all six of the transfer vector RNAs with either deletions or deletion/substitution of the sequences in between the two core packaging determinants were packaged in the virus particles, however, with different efficiencies. This was despite the fact that the transfection efficiencies were within 2-fold of each other and all the cultures produced similar levels of viral particles (Fig. III.4, panels B & C). Since the PCR was conducted across the deleted or deleted/substituted region, the size of the PCR fragment varied with each construct, confirming that the correct packaging constructs were being expressed in each transfection.

To determine the packaging efficiencies of the various constructs accurately, the PCRs were repeated using primers within the R/U5 region that was common to all the



Figure III.4. Analysis of the relative packaging efficiencies of transfer vector RNAs with deletions and/or simultaneous insertions between the two core regions. A) Semi-quantitative RT-PCR of the viral cDNA amplified using OTR600 (R primer)/601 (SV40 primer) and probed with R/U5 probe. Bottom gel represents the DNase-treated viral RNA which was amplified using plasmid-specific primer OTR 366/367 (hygro primer), +C, plasmid as a positive control. B) Western blot analysis of equivalent amounts of the remaining one fourth portion of purified virus harvested from transfected cultures using the FIV antiserum from infected cats. C) Transfection efficiencies observed for different constructs assessed by the luciferase activity from the co-transfected pGL3 DNA using the Dual Luciferase Assay kit. RLU, relative light units.

constructs. Once again, PCR was conducted for 20, 25, and 30 cycles and Southern blotted, as described above. The optical densities observed in the various bands obtained on X-ray film were quantitated using the Biometra gel documentation system and normalized to the amount of luciferase expression observed in each of the transfected culture to take into account differences in transfection efficiencies. Finally, the transfection efficiencies obtained were compared to MB15, the control transfer vector with R/U5, the entire 270 bp of the 5' UTR, and 100 bp of *gag* that was assigned a packaging efficiency of 1 to allow for an easy comparison between the different constructs.

As shown in Fig. III.5, panel A, the transfer vector RNAs with only 90 bp of the 5' UTR, AG002 and AG013, were least efficiently packaged (0.23 and .06 respectively) when compared to MB15. The packaging efficiency increased substantially with the increase of 30 bp at the 5' UTR as observed for AG003 and AG014 that contain 120 bp of 5'UTR (0.62 and 0.4, respectively), and increased to nearly the same as MB15 by having 150 bp of 5' UTR, as seen for AG004 and AG015 (0.8 and 0.92 respectively). These results are in agreement with our previous observations that sequences around 120 bp of the 5' UTR are necessary for efficient RNA packaging and suggest that the deletions or deletions with simultaneous substitutions do not affect the packaging efficiency observed for MB15 was comparable to that observed for TR394 (Fig. III.4), the wild type transfer vector that contains not only the entire 5' UTR, but also 333 bp of *gag* (Browning et al., 2001), confirming our earlier observations that along with part of the 5'



Figure III.5. The region in between the two core packaging determinants is not necessary for packaging. A) Semi-quantitative RT-PCR of the viral cDNA amplified using OTR 660/662 which gives the same size fragment and probed using the R/U5 probe. The relative packaging efficiency was calculated from average of ODs from 20 and 25 cycles. B) DNase-treated cytoplasmic RNA amplified using plasmid-specific primer OTR 366/367 (hygro primer) +C, plasmid as a positive control. C) Control for nucleocytoplasmic fractionation technique. The upper panel is the RT-PCR on cytoplasmic RNA for spliced actin which should be present in both the nuclear and cytoplasmic fractions, while the bottom panel is a multiplex RT-PCR for unspliced β -actin mRNA that should be exclusively nuclear and 18S ribosomal RNA as a control for the presence of cDNA.

UTR only the first 100 bp of *gag* were necessary for efficient FIV RNA packaging (Browning et al., 2003a and b).

It is possible that the results obtained above were due to poor expression, instability, or deficient nucleocytoplasmic transport of some transfer vector RNAs. Therefore, similar to the viral RNAs, cytoplasmic RNAs were DNase-treated and confirmed by PCR for the absence of contaminating DNA (Fig. III.5, panel B). This was followed by cDNA preparation and PCR analysis of the cytoplasmic cDNAs for 20, 25, and 30 cycles followed by Southern blotting as described above. As shown in Fig. III.5, panel A, all the transfer vector RNAs were stably expressed and efficiently transported to the cytoplasm of the transfected cells.

To ensure that our nucleocytoplasmic fractionation technique was reliable, the cytoplasmic RNAs were tested by RT-PCR for the presence of unspliced β -actin mRNA (Fig. III.5, panel C). Normally, the unspliced β -actin mRNA is found exclusively in the nucleus unless the nuclear membrane integrity has been compromised (Tan et al., 1995). As can be seen, only the spliced β -actin mRNA was observed in the cytoplasmic fractions (Fig. III.5, panel C, top half), while the unspliced RNA was undetectable with 30 rounds of PCR eventhough it could be picked up in the nuclear fraction (Fig. III.5, panel C, bottom half). To ensure that each cytoplasmic sample in the unspliced β -actin PCRs contained amplifiable cDNAs, the unspliced β -actin PCR was conducted in the presence of primers for 18S ribosomal RNAs as an internal control (Fig. III.5, panel C, bottom half).

The drastic effect on packaging observed for AG013 over and above the lack of 5' UTR sequences is probably due to the 180 bp heterologous sequences that were inserted

to maintain the spacing that any potential structural elements within the two core regions may assume. This 180 bp insertion, and in particular, the last 30 bp of it, seems to have destabilized the entire region since their removal (as in AG014 that contains only the first 150 bp of the 180 bp insertion) re-stabilized the region for packaging to nearly the same extent as AG003 and AG014 (vectors with 120 bp UTR with or without 150 bp insertions, respectively). Other than AG013, the packaging efficiencies between the vectors with the internal deletions were similar to the vectors where the deletions had been replaced by the heterologous sequences, suggesting that the sequences in between the core packaging determinants were not needed as spacers either and the core elements could fold into functional packaging determinants independently of the spacer region.

Finally, the ability of the transfer vector RNAs to transduce the hygromycin marker gene to target cells was determined by infecting HeLa cells with virions produced by the 293T cells. Colony numbers observed upon hygromycin selection were adjusted to the amount of firefly luciferase expression observed per microgram protein to normalize for transfection efficiencies. Overall, the transfer vector RNAs were transduced to the target cells with about 1- to 4-folds reduced efficiency than the control vector, MB15 (Table III.1). Transfer vector RNAs with the 5' UTR deletions, AG002-AG004 were propagated with ~ 2-3-fold reduced efficiency, while those with the deletion/ insertions, AG013-AG015 were propagated with a 1-4-fold reduction when compared to MB15 (Table III.1). The vectors with only 90 bp of the 5' UTR (AG002 and AG013) exhibited the greatest reduction in titers, probably reflecting the poor packaging efficiency observed with these vectors (see Figs. III.4 & III.5), while vectors with 120 (AG003 and AG014) and 150 bp UTR (AG004 and AG015), resulted in near wild type

Table III.1. The intervening r	egion between th	e core packaging	determinants	does not affect	ct
	transfer vector R	NA propagation			

Vector	5' UTR / gag	Heterologous	LUC Normalized	Fold	P value
паше	mannameu	sequences added	Ther (Cr 0/mi)	Reduction	(\0.01)
AG002	90/100	-	713±68	3.1	0.0001
AG003	120/100	-	966±123	2.3	0.0056
AG004	150/100		910±76	2.4	0.0004
AG013	90/100	180	588±101	3.8	0.001
AG014	120/100	150	1,208±91	1.8	0.0001
AG015	150/100	120	1,646±66	1.3	0.002
MB15	270/100	1. 21° by 400, and 11	2,229±18	1.0	
TR394	270/333	-	2,417±238	0.9	0.064
Mock	No DNA		< 1		-

titers (within 1-2-folds) either with or without the insertions, reflecting the improved packaging efficiencies observed with these vectors.

Structural analysis of the folding potential of the 5' end of the FIV genome and its correlation with the packaging efficiency data

To determine how the folding of the spacer region in between the two core determinants was affected by the deletions or deletion/insertions, the regions between R and end of 100 bp *gag* of our various mutant vectors was folded using the RNAstructure (version 3.6) of Zuker and colleagues that uses energy minimization algorithms to predict foldings of RNA molecules (Mathews et al., 1999). Folding of this region in TR394 and MB15, the control vectors with the entire 270 bp UTR and either 333 or 100 bp of *gag*, revealed the presence of four stem loops (SL1-4) in U5/5' UTR region starting from about 20 bp into the U5 to about 6 bp downstream of the major splice donor, mSD (Fig. III.6, panels A & B). These stem loops seemed very stable since they were perfectly conserved in the four predicted structures in TR394 and the two predicted structures in MB15. Furthermore, the major splice donor in each case was downstream of the four stable stem loops and formed part of the stem that completed the folding of the stably folded region confirming the prior functional analysis that revealed that sequences downstream of mSD and upstream of *gag* did not contribute to packaging (see Fig. III.6) (Browning et al., 2003a).

SL2 is potentially the key packaging determinant of FIV. Folding of the vectors RNAs containing the incremental deletions or deletions with insertions revealed that most of the folding of the wild type UTR was destroyed in AG002/AG013 and AG003/AG014,



Figure 111.6. The folding potential of the mutant transfer vectors either with deletions or deletions/insertions in between the two core elements. The ovals represent the conserved stem loop structures, SL1-4. The emerging SL2 loop observed in AG003/AG004 and AG014/AG015 is highlighted by the arrows with the knobs at the end.

the vectors with only 90 and 120 bp of the UTR except for the small stem loop, SL1, that was observed in the U5 of all the RNAs folded (Fig. III.6, panels C-F). However, in the presence of 120 bp of UTR, the first few loops of SL2 started to emerge in AG003 and 14, while in the presence of the150 bp UTR, 2/3rd of the large SL2 observed in TR394 and MB15 had reformed (Fig. III.6, panels G & H). The emergence of partial stem loop 2 in the vectors with 120 and 150 bp deletions (irrespective of the presence or absence of the insertions) suggests that the first 2/3^{rds} of SL2 may be the major packaging determinant of FIV since a significant restoration of packaging was observed in vectors with 120 bp UTR, while the packaging was nearly at the wild type level with 150 bp UTR (Fig. III.5). Furthermore, correlation of our packaging data with the structural analysis also suggests that SL1 present in the U5 region does not play a significant role as the packaging determinant in FIV since drastic reductions in packaging were observed with AG002 and AG013, the vector RNAs that still maintain SL1 (Fig. III.6, panels C & D).

These results are contrary to the findings of Kemler et al., (2002) who mutated what encompasses the fourth loop/bulge and stem region of SL2 predicted by our computer analysis (Fig. III.6, panel A). In their structural analysis, this region formed a small independent stem loop that had a similarity to the stem loop 3 (SL3) of HIV-1, the main packaging determinant of HIV-1 that binds the nucleocapsid protein (Berkowitz and Goff, 1994; Berglund et al., 1997; Lochrie et al., 1997). However, their stem loop abrogating mutations did not affect FIV RNA packaging. One reason for the contrary findings could be that the first three bulges/stems of SL2 may be the main determinants of FIV RNA packaging, which should not have been affected by their mutations (Fig.

III.6, panel A). This speculation is supported by the observation that maintenance of 120 bp UTR in AG003/AG014 resulted in the appearance of the first two of the bulges/stems of SL2 that restored \geq 50 % of the packaging potential of transfer vector RNAs (Figs. III. 5 and III. 6, panels E & F). Thus, FIV may not need the entire SL2 for packaging, but only the first part of this structure that is probably sufficiently formed by the presence >120 bp in the UTR, but <150 bp.

Interestingly, the *gag* region (100 or 333 bp) in the control vectors did not fold into any particularly consistent stem loop structure. Either our analysis was not stringent enough to pick up any signature folding patterns, or *gag* may not necessarily be involved at the structural level. Since the functional data demonstrates that *gag* sequences are critical for packaging, the RNA folding data suggests that sequences in *gag* may help FIV differentiate between genomic and subgenomic mRNAs prior to packaging by providing intronic sequences to the packaging signal. Or, it is possible that sequences in *gag* may provide a more indirect role similar to that observed in HIV-2 related to a co-translational mechanism for identifying genomic mRNAs for encapsidation.

In short, using a combination of mutational analyses and computer predictions, studies presented in this part of the thesis clearly demonstrate that the FIV packaging determinants are found as two core discontinuous regions at the 5' end of the viral genome. The first of these regions (R/U5 + 150 bp UTR) is present upstream of the major splice donor and folds into a complex stem loop structure, while sequences in the first 100 bp of *gag* also contribute critically to the ability of the virus to recognize the genomic message from the plethora of cellular and spliced mRNAs.

These results are in partial agreement with those of Kemler et al., 2002 and 2004

who found that the R/U5 region (in particular), but also the 154 bp of the UTR harbored the main packaging determinants of FIV, and simultaneously required help from the first ~ 90 bp of *gag*. Since all our vectors contained R/U5, we could not differentiate between the relative contributions of vectors with and without R/U5 to packaging. However, based on the analysis of the structural data, our studies suggest that probably the main packaging determinant will lie more within the first 150 bp of the UTR than the R/U5 sequences.

Chapter IV

RESULTS & DISCUSSION II

Role of 5' and 3' LTRs on the packaging efficiency of FIV RNA.

Results presented in Chapter III clearly show the discontinuous and multipartite nature of the FIV packaging determinants, revealing at least two regions of the FIV 5' end that significantly affect FIV RNA in packaging. However, our earlier mapping studies had implicated other regions of the FIV genome towards packaging, including the 3' LTR (Browning et al., 2003 a &b). In addition, studies published around the same time also pointed to the role of 5' R/U5 sequences as being actually the primary packaging determinant (Kemler et al., 2002 & 2004). Since all our previous studies did not differentiate between the 5'UTR and the R/U5 region and were done in the presence of the 3' LTR, we wanted to determine the relative contribution of the FIV 5' and 3' LTRs to FIV RNA packaging.

Towards this end, we utilized a two-plasmid *trans* complementation assay that consisted of a packaging construct and a series of transfer vectors. Unlike the 3-plasmid system, this assay lacked the vector that would provide the envelope proteins since there was no need for the infection of target cells as most of the transfer vectors lacked the sequences necessary for reverse transcription, integration and propagation into the target cells. The transfer vectors contained various portions of the putative FIV packaging signal expressed from the hCMV promoter for transcript initiation and the BGH poly A signal for transcript termination.

R/U5 region increases the packaging efficiency of heterologous FIV transfer vector RNAs. To determine the role and contribution of the 5' R/U5 region to packaging, the expression vector pcDNA3 was modified to generate a series of transfer vectors that contained the two core packaging determinants of FIV either in the presence or absence of R/U5 in the non-viral heterologous context (Fig. IV.1, panel A). To ensure that we had the entire core region, we maintained either 90, 120, or 150 bp of the 5' UTR and the first 100 bp of *gag.* AG026, AG027, and AG028 are transfer vectors that contain the core packaging determinants in the presence of R/U5, while AG040, AG041, and AG042 contain only the core packaging determinants (Fig. IV.1, panel A). Since we were testing such small parts of the FIV genome, the ~ 2 kb SV-Hygro cassette was inserted in the transfer vectors to increase the size of the packageable RNAs and make them relatively the same size for easier relative comparison.

As stated earlier, each transfer vector was co-transfected with MB22 into 293T cells, virus was harvested 72 hours post transfection and processed for RNA and proteins, while a portion of the transfected cultures were fractionated into nuclear and cytoplasmic fractions for isolation of cytoplasmic RNA. To monitor for variations in transfection efficiencies, the luciferase expression vector, pGL3 Control (Promega), was also included in the DNA cocktail and a portion of the transfected cultures was used to determine luciferase expression.

First, the expression of the transfer vector RNAs in the transfected cultures was analyzed to determine if the vector RNAs were expressed and efficiently transported to the cytoplasm. Towards this end, equal amounts of the cytoplasmic RNA from each transfected culture was DNase-treated, reverse transcribed, and PCR amplified using OTR 467/OTR503, primers within the PBS and the *gag* region (Fig. IV.1, panel B). As shown, all transfer vector RNAs were expressed efficiently in the cytoplasm of the transfected cells, demonstrating that the transfer vector RNAs were stable and



Figure IV.1. Test of the FIV R/U5 region towards contribution to FIV RNA packaging. A) Schematic representation of the transfer vectors with/without the R/U5 region in addition to the two core regions in heterologous context. B) RT-PCR of cytoplasmic cDNA amplified using OTR467 (pbs) and OTR503 (gag). The bottom gel shows the DNase-treated cytoplasmic RNA which was amplified using plasmid specific primer OTR366/367 (hygro primer), +C, plasmid as a positive control. C) Control for nucleocytoplasmic fractionation technique. The upper panel is the RT-PCR on cytoplasmic RNA for spliced actin which should be present in both the nuclear and cytoplasmic fractions, while the bottom panel is a multiplex RT-PCR for unspliced β -actin mRNA that should be exclusively nuclear and 18S ribosomal RNA as a control for the presence of cDNA. D) Transfection efficiency observed for different constructs assessed by the luciferase activity from the co-transfected pGL3 DNA using the Dual Luciferase Assay kit. RLU, relative light units.

successfully transported out of the nucleus and into the cytoplasm. Since we amplified across the 5' UTR, the size of the PCR fragment differed between the different constructs and was indicative of the particular transfer vector used for transfection. As a control, a portion of the DNase treated RNA was tested by PCR using plasmid-specific hygromycin primers to monitor for DNA contamination. All the samples were negative (except for the plasmid DNA sample that acted as a positive control, see last lane), assuring that there was no DNA contaminating our RNA samples (Fig. IV.1, panel B).

To ensure that the nucleocytoplasmic fractionation technique was effective, the cytoplasmic RNAs were tested for the presence of the unspliced β -actin mRNA by PCR. As mentioned earlier, unspliced β -actin mRNA is found exclusively within the nucleus, while the spliced form is found both in the nucleus and the cytoplasm (Tan et al., 1995). As can be seen, spliced β -actin mRNA was abundantly found in the cytoplasm (Fig. IV.1, panel C, upper half), while the unspliced form was completely absent form the cytoplasmic portion (Fig. IV.1, panel C, lower half), and present only in the nuclear fraction (last lane). The unspliced β -actin PCR was conducted in the presence of 18S ribosomal RNAs primers, which acted as an internal control for the presence of amplifiable cDNAs in each sample (Fig. IV.1, panel C, lower half).

Once confirmed that all transfer vector RNAs were efficiently expressed and transported to the cytoplasm, we went on to analyze the amount of RNA packaged into the actual virus particles. Similar to cytoplasmic RNAs, the viral RNAs were DNase treated, reverse transcribed and used in PCR amplifications. To make sure that the amplifications were in the linear range of detection, PCRs were conducted for 20, 25, and 30 cycles, the resulting products were run on agarose gels, transferred to nylon

membranes, and hybridized with an FIV *gag* probe using a non-radioactive alkaline phosphatase labeling method (see Materials and Methods for details). The chemilluminescent signals emitted were captured on X-ray films that were digitized and the optical density in the various bands quantitated using the Biometra gel documentation system. Finally, the optical densities obtained were normalized to the amount of luciferase expression observed in each of the transfected culture to take into account differences in transfection efficiencies.

As observed in Fig. IV.2, all transfer vector RNAs were packaged, but to various extent. The constructs with the R/U5 region (AG026-028) were packaged more efficiently showing relative packaging efficiencies (RPE) of 3.2, 6 and 10 than those lacking the R/U5 region (AG040-042) displaying relative packaging efficiencies of 1, 3.5 and 2.7. This is despite similar transfection efficiencies (Fig. IV.1, panel D) and the production of similar levels of viral particles in the transfected cultures (Fig. IV.2). In agreement with our previous results, the deletion construct with only 90 bp of UTR was packaged least efficiently (RPE of 3.2), followed by the construct with 120 bp UTR (RPE of 6), while 150 bp UTR enhanced packaging the most (RPE of 10). Together, these results reveal that efficient packaging by FIV proteins requires at most 150 bp of the 5' UTR in the presence of 100 bp of *gag*, and this level of packaging can be nearly doubled or more by the presence of R/U5 sequences at the 5' end.

Role of the 3' LTR on the packaging efficiency of FIV RNA. To study the role of the 3' LTR, three new transfer vectors were constructed. AG030 and AG031 represent transfer vectors that express the entire 270 bp UTR either in the presence or absence



Figure IV.2. The R/U5 region increases the packaging efficiency of heterologous FIV transfer vector RNAs. Semiquantitative RT-PCR of viral cDNA amplified using OTR467 (pbs) and OTR662 (90 bp of 5' UTR) for 20, 25 and 30 rounds of PCR and probed using the 90 bp probe. The panel below shows the DNase-treated viral RNA which were amplified using plasmid specific primer OTR366/367 (hygro primer). The bottom panel shows the Western blot analysis of equivalent amounts of the remaining one fourth purified virus harvested from transfected cultures using the FIV antiserum from infected cats. The relative packaging efficiency was calculated from average of ODs from 20 and 25 cycles. of R/U5 sequences, while MB15 and AG039 contain the entire 270 bp UTR either in the presence or absence of R/U5, respectively, but with the 3' LTR for transcript termination (Fig. IV.3, panel A).

The 3' LTR contributes to FIV RNA packaging. The four constructs were tested in our packaging assay as described before. All constructs were efficiently expressed in the cytoplasm of the transfected cells (Fig. IV.3, panel B). These cytoplasmic RNA extracts were fractionated appropriately since no unspliced β-actin mRNA could be observed in the cytoplasm(Fig. IV.3, panel C), and no amplification could be observed when the DNased RNAs were used as template in PCR reactions with hygro primers (Fig. IV.3, panel B). Finally, semi-quantitative RT-PCR analysis of the RNA packaged in the virions revealed that the vectors without the 3' LTR, AG030 and AG031 were packaged with 5- and 3-fold less efficiency than their counterparts with 3' LTR, MB15 and AG039, respectively (Fig. IV.4). These results were confirmed using an independent primer pair (data not shown). These constructs also confirmed our earlier results that R/U5 increased the packaging efficiency of vector RNAs by ~ 2-3-folds despite the presence of the entire 5' UTR (compare AG030 with AG031 and MB15 with AG039) (Fig. IV.4). This was despite the fact that all vectors were transfected with similar efficiencies (Fig. IV.3, panel D) and similar amounts of virions were produced in each culture (Fig. IV.4).

Taking this analysis further, two more transfer vectors were constructed to determine whether 3' LTR could enhance the packaging efficiency of transfer vector RNAs in the absence of the 5' UTR. AG021 and AG029 contain the FIV R/U5 region at the 5' end and either the BGH poly A signal or the 3' FIV LTR downstream of the SV-



Figure IV.3. Test of the 3' LTR and R/U5 regions towards contribution to FIV RNA packaging. A) Schematic representation of the transfer vectors with/without the 3' LTR and R/U5 region in the presence of the entire 270 bp of 5' UTR and 100 bp of gag. B) RT-PCR of cytoplasmic cDNA amplified using OTR467 (pbs) and OTR503 (gag). The bottom panel shows the DNase-treated cytoplasmic RNA which was amplified using plasmid specific primer OTR366/367 (hygro primer). +C, plasmid as a positive control. C) Control for nucleocytoplasmic fractionation technique. The upper panel is the RT-PCR on cytoplasmic fractions, while the bottom panel is a multiplex RT-PCR for unspliced β -actin mRNA that should be exclusively nuclear and 18S ribosomal RNA as a control for the presence of cDNA. D) Transfection efficiency observed for different constructs assessed by the luciferase activity from the co-transfected pGL3 DNA using the Dual Luciferase Assay kit. RLU, relative light units



Figure IV.4. The 3' LTR and R/U5 region increase the packaging efficiency of FIV transfer vector RNAs. A) Semi-quantitative RT-PCR of viral cDNA amplified using OTR467 (pbs) and OTR503 (gag) for 20, 25 and 30 rounds of PCR amplification and probed using the gag probe. The below panel shows the DNase-treated viral RNA which was amplified using plasmid specific primer OTR366/367 (hygro primer). +C, plasmid as a positive control. The bottom panel shows Western blot analysis of equivalent amounts of the remaining one fourth purified virus harvested from transfected cultures using the FIV antiserum from infected cats. The relative packaging efficiencies were calculated from ODs of 20 cycles.

Hygro cassette in the background of pcDNA3 (Fig. IV.5, panel A). Semi-quantitative RT-PCR analysis of the transfer vector RNAs packaged in the virions showed that AG021 with the 3' LTR was packaged with a 3-fold enhanced efficiency than AG029 (Fig. IV.5, panel B), confirming the results obtained earlier (Fig. IV.4). Once again, AG021 and AG029 were expressed efficiently in the cytoplasm (Fig. IV.5, panel C), cells were fractionated appropriately (Fig. IV.5, panel D), and similar levels of virions were produced in the transfected cultures (Fig. IV.5, panel B).

The U3 portion of the LTR also contains packaging determinants. To determine whether the increase in the packaging efficiency was due to the presence of the U3 element, we constructed AG051 that expressed the entire LTR, U3/R/U5, from the CMV promoter and compared the packaging efficiency of its RNA with that from AG029, the vector that expressed the R/U5 region only form the CMV promoter (Fig.IV.6, panels A & B). As shown, the addition of U3 increased the packaging efficiency of AG029 by 2 folds, revealing that the U3 region of the LTR also contributes to packaging of the FIV RNA contrary to published findings (Kemler et al., 2004).

The context of the LTR determines its relative contribution to FIV RNA packaging. Since the FIV LTR when present at the 3' end is transcribed until the poly A signal in the R region, we determined whether there was any difference when only U3/partial R sequences were present (up to the poly A signal at nt 253 in the LTR) in the transfer vector RNAs expressed from the CMV promoter (AG053) versus U3/complete R (nt 281) (AG052), or the entire U3/R/U5 (up to nt 357) (AG051) and compared the packaging of these transcripts with those expressed from AG001 (Fig. IV.7, panel A). AG001 expresses the *Hygro* gene from the SV40 promoter using the 3' LTR for transcript



Figure IV.5. The 3' LTR increases the packaging efficiency of FIV RNA. A) Schematic representation of the transfer vectors with and without the 3' LTR. B) Semi-quantitative RT-PCR of viral cDNAs amplified using OTR516 (R) and OTR459 (end of U5) primers for 20, 25 and 30 rounds of PCR and probed using the R/U5 probe. The panel below shows the DNase-treated viral RNA which was amplified using plasmid specific primer OTR366/367 (hygro primer). +C, plasmid as a positive control. The bottom panel shows the Western blot analysis of equivalent amounts of the remaining one fourth purified virus harvested from transfected cultures using the FIV antiserum from infected cats. C) Control for nucleocytoplasmic fractionation technique. The upper panel is the RT-PCR on cytoplasmic RNA for spliced actin which should be present in both the nuclear and cytoplasmic fractions, while the bottom panel is a multiplex RT-PCR for unspliced β-actin mRNA that should be exclusively nuclear and 18S ribosomal RNA as a control for the presence of cDNA. D) RT-PCR of cytoplasmic cDNA amplified using OTR516 (R) and OTR459 (end of U5) primers. The bottom panel shows the DNase-treated cytoplasmic RNA, which was amplified using plasmid specific primer OTR366/367 (hygro primer). The relative packaging efficiencies were calculated from the average of 20 and 25 cycle ODs using different exposures.



Figure IV.6. The U3 part of the 3' LTR in particular increases the packaging efficiency of FIV RNA. A) Schematic representation of the transfer vectors either with R/U5 or U3/R/U5 in the heterologous context. B) Semi-quantitative RT-PCR of viral cDNAs amplified using OTR516 (R) and OTR459 (end of U5) for 20, 25 and 30 rounds of PCR and probed using the R/U5 probe. The panel below shows the DNase-treated viral RNA which was amplified using plasmid specific primer OTR366/367 (hygro primer). +C, plasmid as a positive control. The bottom panel shows Western blot analysis of equivalent amounts of the remaining one fourth purified virus harvested from transfected cultures using the FIV antiserum from infected cats. C) Control for nucleocytoplasmic fractionation technique. The upper panel is the RT-PCR on cytoplasmic RNA for spliced actin which should be present in both the nuclear and cytoplasmic fractions, while the bottom panel is a multiplex RT-PCR for unspliced β-actin mRNA that should be exclusively nuclear and 18S ribosomal RNA as a control for the presence of cDNA. D) RT-PCR of cytoplasmic cDNAs amplified using OTR660 (R) and OTR601 (SV40). The bottom panel shows the DNase-treated cytoplasmic RNA, which was amplified using plasmid specific primer OTR366/367 (hygro primer). The relative packaging efficiencies were calculated from the average of both 25 and 20 cycles ODs using different exposures.



Figure IV.7. The context of the LTR determines the relative contribution to FIV RNA packaging. A) Schematic representation of the transfer vectors with U3/R/U5 or U3/R or U3/partial R, or the 3' LTR in the 3' context. B) Semiquantitative RT-PCR of viral cDNAs amplified using OTR627 (beginning of U3) and OTR517 (end of U3) primers for 20, 25 and 30 rounds of PCR and probed using the U3 probe. The panel below shows the DNase-treated viral RNA which was amplified using plasmid specific primer OTR366/367 (hygro primer). +C, plasmid as a positive control. The bottom panel shows the Western blot analysis of equivalent amounts of the remaining one fourth purified virus harvested from transfected cultures using the FIV antiserum from infected cats. C) Control for nucleocytoplasmic fractionation technique. The upper panel is the RT-PCR on cytoplasmic RNA for spliced actin which should be present in both the nuclear and cytoplasmic fractions, while the bottom panel is a multiplex RT-PCR for unspliced β -actin mRNA that should be exclusively nuclear and 18S ribosomal RNA as a control for the presence of cDNA. D) RT-PCR of cytoplasmic cDNAs amplified using OTR627 (beginning of U3) and OTR517 (end of U3) primers. The bottom panel shows the DNase-treated cytoplasmic RNA, which was amplified using plasmid specific primer OTR366/367 (hygro primer). The relative packaging efficiencies were calculated from the average of 20 and 25 cycle ODs using different exposures.

termination, and therefore should contain only the U3 and partial R sequences at the 3' end of the transcript (Fig. IV.7, panel A). Test of these constructs in our packaging assay revealed that AG051, AG052, and AG053 were packaged within 2-folds of each other in the FIV viral particles, suggesting that all the necessary packaging determinants were present in the U3/partial R region. Interestingly, the transcripts from AG001 were packaged with nearly 10-fold lower efficiency than AG053 (Fig. IV.7, panel B). This was not because the transcripts were not produced appropriately from the SV40 promoter in AG001 since similar levels of mRNAs were expressed in the cytoplasm of the transfected cells (Fig. IV.7, panel D). Once again, the amount of virions produced were similar in these cultures, the RNA samples were DNase-treated appropriately, and the fractionation technique was reliable (Fig. IV.7, panel B-D).

To confirm these findings independently, we compared the amount of virion RNA packaged from transfer vectors AG001 and AG053 using a different primer pair. Once again, a 20-fold difference in packaging efficiency was observed (Fig. IV.8, panel A). Additionally, we compared the amount of virion RNA packaged from transfer vectors AG001 with AG021. AG021 is similar to AG001 in that it uses the 3' LTR for transcript termination, but uses the CMV promoter to express the RNA, thus by-passing the need for the SV promoter. Test of these constructs revealed that both vectors were packaged within 3-folds of each other, an effect attributed to the presence of R/U5 sequences in AG021 (Fig. IV.8, panel B). These results clearly show that the FIV LTR when expressed in the 3' context is less efficient in enhancing packaging than when present at the 5' end. *The U3/R folds differently when at the 3' end versus when at the 5' end.* To determine why the packaging efficiency of U3/R determinants differed when expressed from the 5'


Figure IV.8. The 5' context of the LTR has better packaging potential than the 3' context. A) Semi-quantitative RT-PCR of viral cDNAs amplified using OTR627 (beginning of U3) and OTR517 (end of U3) primers for 20, 25 and 30 rounds of PCR and probed using the U3 probe. B) Semi-quantitative RT-PCR of viral cDNAs amplified using OTR627 (beginning of U3) and OTR517 (end of U3) primers for 20, 25 and 30 rounds of PCR and probed using the U3 probe. The relative packaging efficiencies were calculated from the ODs obtained from 25 and 20 cycles.

versus the 3' end, the U3/R/U5 was folded in the 5' and 3' contexts. At the 5' end, these sequences were expressed from the CMV promoter, while at the 3' end, the FIV LTR was cloned along with ~120 bp of the upstream adjacent FIV sequences that contain coding sequences for the 3' end of *env* and *rev* exon 2. As shown in Fig. IV.9, the U3/R/U5 folded into four stem loop structures that were conserved whether U3/R/U5 or U3/R were expressed from the 5' end. However, only the last three of these stem loops were conserved in U3/partial R. Upon comparison of these structures with those from AG001 (containing sequences 120 bp upstream of 3' LTR, entire U3, and partial R), only the middle two of the four stem loops were conserved. Since RNA from AG001 was the least efficient of all in terms of packaging, these analyses suggest that the last stem loop either contains the major U3 packaging determinant or that the loss of this stem loop affects the stability of the other stem loops in the U3/partial R.

The packaging determinants within the UTR and *gag* constitute the core packaging determinants of FIV.

Finally, using our already constructed vectors, we asked the question as to which of the regions of FIV contains the primary packaging determinant, R/U5 at the 5' end, 150 bp UTR/100 bp *gag*, or the 3' LTR. Since we were limited by the primer pairs we could use for a simultaneous analysis of the constructs, vectors were chosen that contained R/U5 in common (Fig. IV.10, panel A). Semi-quantitative RT-PCR analysis of these constructs revealed that R/U5 on its own was a weak packaging signal. The packaging efficiency increased by ~ 4-folds in the presence of the 3' LTR, as observed before. With the addition of the 90 bp UTR/100 bp *gag*, the packaging efficiency increased further and



Figure IV.9. Folding potential of the FIV transfer vector RNAs expressing the U3, R, or U5 elements in either the 5' or 3' context. The ovals represent the conserved stem loop structures.



Figure IV.10. The major core determinants of FIV RNA packaging lie within 150 bp of the 5' UTR and 100 bp of *gag* while R/U5 and U3 play a minor role in FIV RNA packaging. A) Schematic representation of the vectors tested. B) Semi-quantitative RT-PCR of viral cDNAs amplified using OTR660 (R) and OTR459 (end of U5) primers for 20, 25 and 30 rounds of PCR and probed using the R/U5 probe. The relative packaging efficiencies were calculated from the ODs of 20 cycles.

each incremental increase in the UTR kept increasing the packaging efficiency till 150 bp were reached when maximum packaging efficiency was observed, ~ 12-fold over that observed for the vector with R/U5 only (Fig. IV.10, panel B). These data indicate that the UTR/gag contain the primary packaging determinants of FIV and not R/U5, as suggested by Kemler et al., 2002.

This conclusion is further supported by our earlier genetic and structural analysis of the LTR and 5' UTR region presented in Chapter III. These analyses had revealed that despite the presence of R/U5 region in all the test vectors, packaging of the vector RNAs with 90 bp UTR was greatly compromised compared to those containing 120 and 150 bp UTR. All these vector RNAs, irrespective of whether they were packaged efficiently or inefficiently, maintained the stem loop structure, SL1, stably in the U5 region of the RNA, while only the RNAs that partially restored the folding of stem loop 2, SL2, present in the 5' UTR were able to enhance the packaging efficiency of their RNAs.

Several reasons may explain the discrepancies in the observations of the two studies including our observation that the 3' LTR also contains FIV packaging determinants related to different construct design or viral strains. The Kemler study, for example, used full-length genomic constructs, while our studies were conducted using non-viral heterologous or subgenomic constructs that lacked most of the sequences encoding for the structural genes. Presence of negative inhibitory elements within structural genes such as *gag*, *pol*, and *env* have been shown to affect expression of unspliced mRNAs (transport, stability, and translatability) and hence could theoretically affect the subsequent incorporation of the unspliced mRNA into virions (reviewed in Cullen, 2003). Vector design itself can sometimes pose problems such as those observed

by Poeschla and colleagues who reported that addition of *gag* sequences beyond nt 311 negatively impacted the ability of such transfer vector RNAs to be packaged into virions possibly related to the presence of the highly structured RRE in their vectors (Poeschla et al., 1998a). Finally, it seems that Kemler et al. (2002) used the Petaluma strain for their analysis which is what we used as well; however, their UTR is about 273 bp in length compared to 270 bp in our case, suggesting that perhaps a different molecular clone of FIV Petaluma was analyzed by them.

Together with the results presented in Chapter III, our studies reveal that FIV RNA packaging determinants are as complex as those of other lentiviruses, reflecting the multidimensional nature of how genomic RNAs are packaged by the assembling virion. This requires not only recognition of the RNA structural features by the Gag polyproteins to distinguish between sub-genomic and genomic mRNAs, but also issues related to RNA dimerization. Sequences responsible for retroviral RNA dimerization co-map to regions similar to RNA packaging determinants and despite intensive investigations, it is still not clear whether RNA packaging precedes retroviral RNA dimerization or comes later (Russell et al., 2004). **Chapter V**

CONCLUSIONS & RECOMMENDATIONS

This thesis was undertaken to fine map the sequences required for efficient FIV RNA packaging into the viral particles. Using our previously published results, we embarked upon a two-pronged strategy to address this question. Our previous results revealed that the FIV packaging determinants consisted of two core elements, one encompassing ~120 bp of 5' UTR while the other about the first 100 bp of *gag* (Browning et al., 2003 a & b). To fine tune our mapping, we conducted an incremental deletion analysis of the intervening sequences between the two core elements, or substituted the deleted region with heterologous sequences of same length to determine whether the intervening region itself played a role in FIV RNA packaging, or simply acted to maintain the distance between the two core elements (Chapter III).

We went on to dissect the role of the LTR elements towards packaging since it was suggested that LTR elements may have a key role to play in packaging, but only when present at the 5' end of the viral RNA (Kemler et al., 2002). Since our earlier constructs maintained most of the 5' LTR and all of the 3' LTR, we constructed another series of vectors that tested the effects of the U3, R, and U5 sequences on FIV RNA packaging in both the 5' and 3' contexts (Chapter IV).

Our incremental deletion analysis of the region intervening the two core packaging determinants confirmed the earlier observations that the major determinants of FIV RNA packaging lie within two discontinuous regions, the first 150 bp of 5' UTR and the first 100 bp of *gag* (Chapter III). Furthermore, we demonstrated that the sequences in between the two core packaging determinants are dispensable for packaging; neither do they affect packaging directly, nor do they act as spacers to maintain any structural features of the region (Chapter III). In terms of the LTR elements, our data revealed that

both the 5' R/U5 region and the 3' LTR contribute to FIV RNA packaging and to a similar extent (Chapter IV). The U3 region was also shown to affect packaging specifically (Chapter IV). A comparative analysis of all the regions involved in packaging revealed that the first 150 bp UTR in combination with the first 100 bp of *gag* had the strongest influence on packaging, making them the core packaging determinants (Chapter IV).

Since retroviral RNA packaging determinants are thought to fold into higher order structures, we folded the RNA regions found to be important for packaging using the RNA folding algorithm, RNAstructure (Mathews et al., 1999). Analysis of the predicted structures revealed that the 5' end of the FIV genomic RNA folded into several stable stem loops, a situation similar to HIV, SIV and MPMV (Fig. V.1 & Fig. 1.7). Two stem loop structures were observed in the R/U5 region (labelled "R" and "R/U5" in Fig. V.1), but only transiently, suggesting that more than likely they are not involved in RNA packaging since they are unstable to begin with. Similarly, a structure with a huge loop was identified within the first 100 bp of gag (labeled "AUG Gag"), but also not consistently, suggesting that the gag region probably does not function at a structural level either (see Chapter III). In between these unstable structures, we observed four stable stem loops designated SL1-4 (Fig. V.1). SL1 was found within U5, a region involved in packaging; however, we feel that this stem loop is not significantly involved in packaging since it was present in vector RNAs that were packaged poorly (AG002/AG013, Chapter III). SL2, found within the first ~180 bp of the UTR, was the most consistently formed stem loop structure found to be associated with enhanced packaging (Chapter III). Even the emergence of the first two loops of SL2 were found to



Figure V.1. The predicted secondary RNA structure of the 5' end of the FIV RNA from the cap site (nt 1) to the first 74 bp of gag (nt 484). The major *cis*-acting sequences of the virus are highlighted by the gray shading such as the primer binding site (PBS), major splice donor (mSD), and the gag initiation codon. The structural features are labeled according to the region of the viral genome they exist in. The regions of stem loop (SL) 2 reformed in the presence of 120 and 150 bp UTR are shown by the brackets along the sides along with the mutations in SL2 introduced by Kemler et al., 2002.

improve packaging significantly (AG003/AG014), while 2/3^{rds} of it (found within 150 bp UTR) was shown to restore packaging to nearly that of the wild type (AG004/AG015). This suggested that only part of this stem loop plays a critical role in packaging. SL3 and 4, on the other hand, were not found to correlate with the functional packaging data (Chapter III). Since we did not carry a mutational analysis for any of these structures, we do not know whether they play a role in FIV RNA packaging at the structural level or at a primary sequence level. Kemler et al. (2002) mutated part of SL2 highlighted in Fig. V.1; however, they observed no effect of the mutations on the packaging of these RNAs. Interestingly, the predicted structure of the mutated region looked completely different from ours and seemed to form a short stem loop of its own. In combination with our folding predictions, their mutational analysis suggests that either their mutations did not really perturb the structure of SL2 significantly, or the region encompassing the mutations is not directly involved in packaging (it is away from the tip region of SL2 that seems like the important region).

Together, the mutational and structural data from our study suggests that the two core FIV packaging determinants are probably complementary and act together to enhance packaging. It is our speculation that the first 150 bp of the UTR probably interacts at a structural level (perhaps along with the other packaging determinants within the LTR) with the Gag polyprotein, while the first 100 bp in *gag* may act at a primary level and be involved more in the identification of the genomic mRNA from the multitude of subgenomic mRNAs that would lack this intronic region. This emerging scenario seems opposite to what we have observed in MPMV in terms of the contribution of the two elements to packaging (Schmidt et al., 2003; Mustafa et al., 2004). Deletion

and site directed mutagenesis of the first four stem loops of the MPMV 5' UTR region has identified sequences encompassing SL1 as the core determinant of MPMV RNA packaging, but at the primary sequence level, while the first ~130 bp of *gag* seem to fold into 3 short stem loops that may be responsible for providing the structural interaction(s) needed for specific incorporation of the genomic RNA into the virus particle. The requirement of the *gag* stem loops to efficient packaging remains to be genetically confirmed.

The region between the 5' mSD and the start of the *gag* (which is around 20 bp) is not critical for FIV RNA packaging since a deletion in this region had minimal effects on the packaging efficiency. (Browning et al., 2003a ; Kemler et al., 2002). However, in the absence of *gag*, we have shown that this region becomes critical for FIV RNA packaging since deletion of this region results in the inability of the core packaging determinant present within the 150 bp of the 5' UTR to function as a packaging signal (Browning et al., 2003a). Thus, despite the absence of core packaging sequences in between the SD and Gag ATG, FIV RNAs lacking this region are packaged highly inefficiently in the absence of *gag*, further suggesting that *gag* sequences have a stabilizing role on the packaging potential of FIV vector RNAs.

The involvement of *gag* sequences as part of packaging determinants of viruses where the core determinant seems to be upstream of the mSD (and hence part of all mRNAs) provides a convenient way of differentiating between spliced and unspliced mRNAs. This may be true not only for FIV, but also for SIV and MPMV (Strappe at al., 2003; Schmidt et al., 2003). However, in the case of HIV-2 which has its packaging determinant upstream of the mSD also, there does not seem to be any *gag* sequence involvement at the packaging signal level. HIV-2 has solved the problem of genomic mRNA recognition by using a unique sorting mechanism where only those mRNAs capable of translating Gag in *cis* can be packaged into the virus particle. These mRNAs are captured by the co-translated Gag polyproteins while being translated on polysomes in the cytoplasm (Kaye and Lever, 1999). Although no direct evidence is presented in this thesis, one may speculate that *gag* may be involved in a similar co-translational mechanism for FIV (and the same may be true for other retroviruses with their core packaging determinants upstream of the mSD such as SIV and MPMV (Strappe et al., 2003; Schmidt et al., 2003)).

As noted earlier, Strappe et al. (2003) have proposed that it is not the position of the mSD relative to the core packaging determinant that may be important for specific encapsidation of genomic RNAs, rather the distance between the cap site and the core packaging determinants as it may affect the competition between translation and encapsidation that the genomic RNAs must undergo. The distance between the core packaging signal relative to the cap is 300-400 bp in SIV, HIV-1, and HIV-2. In comparison, this distance seems to be much shorter in FIV with only ~150 bp in between the cap site and the start of the core packaging determinant. The significance of this observation is not clear. Perhaps, in viruses where *gag* sequences are also part of the core packaging determinant such as FIV, this distance may not be that critical for genomic RNA recognition. A similar observation has been made in MPMV where the distance between the cap site and the primary packaging determinant is only ~140 bp as well. The core packaging determinant of MPMV resides within the first 30 bp downstream of the PBS, but also requires the first ~100 bp of *gag* sequences and the last 23 bp of the 5'

UTR for efficient RNA packaging (Schmidt et al., 2003; Mustafa et al., 2004).

In short, our results reveal that similar to other complex lentiviruses, the FIV packaging signal is complex and multipartite, residing primarily within the first 150 bp of the 5' UTR and the first 100 bp of gag. However, other determinants of packaging also seem to be present in the R/U5 region of the 5' LTR and the U3/R region of the 3' LTR. Since FIV-based self-inactivating vectors (SIN) would be good candidates for human gene therapy, the dispersal of FIV RNA packaging determinants makes this task slightly tricky, especially the involvement of the R element in the 3' LTR. Several strategies are available for making SIN vectors that exploit steps of reverse transcription to prevent generation of packageable vector RNAs. These include the use of repeat sequences or splice sites to remove the packaging signal during reverse transcription of the vector RNA (summarized in Browning, 2001). We will have to use a combination of such strategies to develop effective FIV-based SIN vectors, including deletion of not only the core packaging determinants in the 5' UTR and gag, but also deletion of as much of the U3 region of 3' LTR as possible (permissible since the marker/therapeutic gene will use an internal promoter and will not need the viral promoter for expression). The fact that we could delete major portions of the 5' UTR without affecting vector RNA propagation significantly (see Table III.1) suggests that such deletions should not be detrimental to the ability of the vector RNA to complete the reverse transcription and integration process. Our prediction is that the remaining packaging determinants within the R region in the 3' LTR in the presence of minimal U3 sequences should not be able to function as an effective packaging signal, or will have highly reduced packaging potential, resulting in the minimization of the packaging potential of the FIV transfer vector RNAs.

REFERENCES

References

- Adam, M.A. and Miller, A.D. 1988. Identification of a signal in murine retrovirus that is sufficient for packaging of nonretroviral RNA into virions. *J. Virol.* 62:3802-3806.
- Aschoff, J.M., Foster, D., and Coffin, J.M. 1999. Point mutations in the avian sarcoma/leukosis virus 3' untranslated region result in a packaging defect. J. Virol. 73:7421-7429.
- Bachmann, M.H., Mathiason-Dubard, C., Learn, G.H., Rodrigo, A.G., Sodora, D.L., Mazzetti, P., Hoover, E.A., and Mullins, J.I. 1997. Genetic diversity of feline immunodeficiency virus: dual infection, recombination, and distinct evolutionary rates among envelope sequence clades. J. Virol. 71:4241-4253.
- Banks, J.D., Beemon, K.L. and Linial, M.L. 1997. RNA regulatory elements in the genomes of simple retroviruses. *Semin. Virol.* 8:194-204.
- Banks, J.D., Kealoha, B.O., and Linial, M.L. 1999. An Mψ- containing heterologous
 RNA, but not *env* mRNA, is efficiently packaged into avian retroviral particles. J. Virol.
 73:8926-8933.
- Banks, J.D., Yeo, A., Green, K., Cepeda, F., and Linial, M.L. 1998. A minimal avian retroviral packaging sequence has a complex structure. J. Virol. 72:6190-6194.
- Barr, M.C., Calle, P.P., Roelke, M.E., and Scott, F.W. 1989. Feline immunodeficiency virus infection in non domestic felids. *J. Zoo Wild. Med.* 20:265.
- Bender, M.A., Palmer, T.D., Galinas, R.E., and Miller, A.D. 1987. Evidence that the packaging signal of Moloney murine leukemia virus extends into the gag region. J. Virol. 61:1639-1646.
- Berger, E.A., Murphy, P.M., and Farber, J.M. 1999. Chemokine receptors as HIV-1 coreceptors: roles in viral entry, tropism, and disease. *Annu. Rev. Immunol.* 17:657-700.
- Berglund, J.A., Charpentier, B., and Rosbash, M. 1997. A high affinity binding site for the HIV-1 nucleocapsid protein. *Nucleic Acids Res.* 25:1042-1049.
- Berkowitz R.D., and Goff, S.P. 1994. Analysis of binding elements in the human immunodeficiency virus type 1 genomic RNA and nucleocapsid protein. *Virology*. 202:233-246.

- Berkowitz, R., Fisher, J., and Goff, S.P. 1996. RNA packaging. Curr. Top. Microbiol. Immunol. 214:177-218.
- Bray, M., Prasad, S., Dubay, J.W., Hunter, E., Jeang, K.T., Rekosh, D., and Hammarskjold, M.J. 1994. A small element from the Mason-Pfizer monkey virus genome makes human immunodeficiency virus type 1 expression and replication Revindependent. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci.* USA. 4:1256-1260.
- Brown, P.O. 1997. Integration. In *Retroviruses*. Edited by J. M. Coffin, S. H. Hughes, andH. E. Varmus. New York: Cold Spring Harbor Laboratory Press.
- Brown, W.C., Bissey, L., Logan, K. S., Pedersen, N.C., Elder, J.H., and Collisson, E. W.
 1991. Feline immunodeficiency virus infects both CD4⁺ and CD8⁺ T lymphocytes. J.
 Virol. 65:3359-3364.
- Browning, M.T., 2001. Cross- packaging among retroviruses and characterization of the Feline Immunodeficiency Virus (FIV) packaging signal: Implications for the development of FIV-based gene transfer systems. Ph.D., Thesis submitted to the graduate school of Biomedical Sciences, University of Texas-Houston, Houston, Texas, USA.
- Browning, M.T., Mustafa, F., Schmidt, R.D., Lew, K.A. and Rizvi, T.A. 2003a. Sequences within the gag gene of feline immunodeficiency virus (FIV) are important for efficient RNA encapsidation. *Virus Res.* 93:199-209.
- Browning, M.T., Mustafa, F., Schmidt, R.D., Lew, K.A., and Rizvi, T.A. 2003b.
 Delineation of sequences important for efficient FIV RNA packaging. J. Gen. Virol.
 84:621-627.
- Browning, M.T., Schmidt, R.D., Lew, K.A., and Rizvi, T.A. 2001. Primate and feline lentiviral vector RNA packaging and propagation by heterologous lentiviral virions. J. Virol. 75:5129-5140.
- Burns, C.C., Moser, M. Banks, J., Alderete, J.P., and Overbaugh, J. 1996. Identification and deletion of sequences required for feline leukemia virus RNA packaging and construction of a high-titer feline leukemia virus packaging cell line. *Virology*. 222:14-20.
- Certo, J.L., Shook, B.F., Yin, P.D., Snider, J.T., and Hu, W. 1998. Nonreciprocal pseudotyping: murine leukemia virus proteins cannot efficiently package spleen necrosis virus-based vector RNA. J. Virol. 72:5408-5413.

- Clapham, P.R., Reeves, J.D., Simmons, G., Dejucq, N., Hibbitts, S., and McKnight, A.
 1999. HIV coreceptors, cell tropism and inhibition by chemokine receptor ligands. *Mol. Membr. Biol.* 16:49-55.
- Clever, J.L., Eckstein, D.A., and Parslow, T.G. 1999. Genetic dissociation of the encapsidation and reverse transcription functions in the 5' R region of human immunodefiency virus type 1. *J. Virol.* 73:101-109.
- Clever, J.L., Miranda, D.Jr., and Parslow, T.G. 2002. RNA structure and packaging signals in the 5' leader region of the human immunodeficiency virus type 1 genome. *J. Virol.* 76:12381-12387.
- **Coffin, J.M. 1992a.** Structure and classification of retroviruses. In *The Retroviridae* (ed. J..A. Levy), pp 19-49. Plenum Press, New York.
- Cullen, B.R. 2003. Nuclear mRNA export: insights from virology. *Trends Biochem Sci.* 8:419-424.
- Culver, K.W. 1996. *Gene Therapy: a primer for physicians*. Mary Ann Liebert, Inc. Publishers. USA.
- Das, A.T., Klaver, B., Klasens, B.I.F., van Wamel, J.L.B. and Berkout, B. 1997.
 A conserved hairpin motif in the R-U5 region of the human immunodeficiency virus type 1 RNA genome is essential for replication. J. Virol. 71:2346-2356.
- Dorfman, T., Luban, J., Goff, S.P., Haseltine, W.A., and Gottlinger, H.G. 1993. Mapping of functionally important residues of a cysteine-histidine box in the human immunodeficiency virus type 1 nucleocapsid protein. J. Virol. 67:6159-6169.
- Dorman, N., and Lever, A. 2000. Comparison of viral genomic RNA sorting mechanisms in human immunodeficiency virus type 1 (HIV-1), HIV-2, and Moloney murine leukemia virus. J. Virol. 74:11413-11417.
- Elder, J.H., and Phillips, T.R. 1993. Molecular properties of feline immunodeficiency virus (FIV). *Infect. Agents Dis.* 2:361-374.
- Erlwein, O., Bieniasz, P.D., and McClure, M.O. 1998. Sequences in *pol* are required for transfer of human foamy virus-based vectors. *J. Virol.* 72:5510-5516.
- Franchini, G., Collalti, E., Arya, S.K., Fenyo, E.M., Blberfeld, G., Zagury, J.F., Kanki,
 P.J., Wong-Staal, F. and Gallo, R.C. 1987. Genetic analysis of a new subgroup of human and simian T-lymphotropic retroviruses: HTLV-IV, LAV-2: SBL-6669, and

STLV-IIIAGM. AIDS Res. Hum. Retrovir. 3:11-17.

- Garzino Demo, A., Gallo, R.C., and Arya, S.K. 1995. Human immunodeficiency virus type 2 (HIV-2): packaging signal and associated negative regulatory element. *Hum. Gene Ther.* 6:177-184.
- Gibbs, J.S., Regier, D.A. and Desrosiers, R.C. 1994. Construction and in vitro properties of SIVmac mutants with deletions in "nonessential" genes. *AIDS Res. Hum. Retroviruses*. 10:607-616.
- Goff, S.P. 2001. Retroviridae: The viruses and their replication. In *Fundamental Virology*. Edited by D.M. Knipe, P.M. Howley, D.E. Griffin, R.A. Lamb, M.A. Martin, B. Roizman, and S.E. Straus (ed.), 4th ed. p. 843-913. Lippincott Williams & Williams, Philadelphia, PA.
- Gorelick, R.J., Chabot, D.J., Rein, A., Henderson, L.E., and Arthur, L.O. 1993. The two zinc fingers in the human immunodeficiency virus type 1 nucleocapsid protein are not functionally equivalent. *J. Virol.* 67:4027-4036.
- Greene, W.K., Meers, Del Fierro, J.G., Carnegie, P.R., and Robinson, W.F. 1993. Extensive sequence variation of feline immunodeficiency virus *env* genes in isolates from naturally infected cats. *Arch. Virol.* 133:51-62.
- Griffin, S.D.C., Allen, J.F., and Lever, A.M.L. 2001. The major human immunodeficiency virus type 2 (HIV-2) packaging signal is present on all HIV-2 RNA species: cotranslational RNA encapsidation and limitation of gag protein confer specificity. J. Virol. 75:12058-12069.
- Guan, Y., Diallo, K., Whitney, J.B., Liang, C., and Wainberg, M.A. 2001a. An intact U5-leader stem is important for efficient replication of simian immunodeficiency virus. *J. Virol.* 75:11924-11929.
- Guan, Y., Whiteny, J.B., Liang, C. and Wainberg, M.A. 2001b. Novel, live attenuated simian immunodeficiency virus constructs containing major deletions in leader RNA sequences. J. Virol. 75:2776-2785.
- Guan, Y., Whitney, J.B., Diallo, K. and Wainberg, M.A. 2000. Leader sequences downstream of the primer binding site are important for efficient replication of simian immunodeficiency virus. J. Virol. 74:8854-8860.
- Guesdon, F.M.J., Greatorex, J., Rhee, S.R., Fisher, R. Hunter, E., and Lever, A.M.L.

2001. Sequences in the 5' leader of Mason-Pfizer monkey virus which affect viral particle production and genomic RNA packaging: development of MPMV packaging cell lines. *Virology* **288**:81-88. doi:10.1006/viro.2001.1061.

- Harrison, G.P., Hunter, E., and Lever, A.M.L. 1995. Secondary structure model of the Mason-Pfizer monkey virus 5' leader sequence: Identification of a structural motif common to a variety of retroviruses. J. Virol. 69:2175-2186.
- Harrison, G.P., and Lever, A.M. 1992. The human immunodeficiency virus type 1 packaging signal and major splice donor region have a conserved stable secondary structure. *J. Virol.* 66:4144-4153.
- Harrison, G.P., Miele, G., Hunter, E., and Lever, A.M. 1998. Functional analysis of the core human immunodeficiency virus type 1 packaging signal in a permissive cell line. *J. Virol.* 72:5886-5896.
- Heinkelein, M., Schmidt, M., Fischer, N., Moebes, A., Lindemann, D., Enssle, J., and Rethwilm, A. 1998. Characterization of a cis-acting sequence in the *pol* region required to transfer human foamy virus vectors. J. Virol. 72:6307-14.
- Helga-Maria, C., Hammarskjöld, M.J., and Rekosh, D. 1999. An intact TAR element and cytoplasmic localization are necessary for efficient packaging of human immunodeficiency virus type 1genomic RNA. J. Virol. 73:4127-4135.
- Hohdatsu, T., Hirabayashi, H., Motokawa, K., and Koyama, H. 1996. Comparative study of the cell tropism of feline immunodeficiency virus isolates of subtypes A, B and D classified on the basis of the *env* gene V3-V5 sequence. J. Gen. Virol. 77:93-100.
- Jewell, N.A., and Mansky, L.M. 2005. Packaging of heterologous RNAs by a minimal bovine leukemia virus RNA packaging signal into virus particles. *Arch Virol.* DOI 10.1007/s00705-004-0476-7.
- Johnston, J.C., Gasmi, M., Lim, L.E., Elder, J. H., Yee, J.K., Jolly, D.J., Campbell,
 K.P., Davidson, B.L., and Sauter, S. 1999. Minimum requirement for efficient
 transduction of dividing and nondividing cells by feline immunodeficiency virus vectors.
 J. Virol. 73:49991-5000.
- Kaye, J.F., and Lever, A.M.L. 1998. Nonreciprocal packaging of human immunodeficiency virus type 1 and type 2 RNA: a possible role for the p2 domain of gag in RNA encapsidation. J. Virol. 72:5877-5885.

- Kaye, J.F., and Lever, A.M.L. 1999. Human immunodeficiency virus types 1 and 2 differ in the predominant mechanism used for selection of genomic RNA for encapsidation. *J. Virol.* 73:3023-3031.
- Kaye, J.F., Richardson, J.H., and Lever, A.M. 1995. Cis-acting sequences involved in human immunodeficiency virus type 1 RNA packaging. J. Virol. 69:6588-6592.
- Kemler, I., Azmi, I., and Poeschla, E.M. 2004. The critical role of proximal gag sequences in feline immunodeficiency virus genome encapsidation. *Virology*, 327:111-120.
- Kemler, I., Barraza, R., and Poeschla, E.M. 2002. Mapping the encapsidation determinants of feline immunodeficiency virus. *J. Virol.* 76:11889-11903.
- Letcher, J.D. and O'Connor, T.P. 1991. Incidence of antibodies reacting to FIV in a population of Asians lions, *J. Zoo. Wildl. Med.* 22:324.
- Lever, A.M.L. 2000. HIV RNA packaging and lentivirus-based vectors. *Adv. Pharmacol.* 48:1-28.
- Linial, M.L., and Miller, A.D. 1990. Retroviral RNA packaging: sequence requirements and implications. *Curr. Top. Microbiol. Immunol.* 157:125-152.
- Lochrie, M.A., Waugh, S., Pratt, D.G. Jr, Clever, J., Parslow, T.G., and Polisky, B. 1997. In vitro selection of RNAs that bind to the human immunodeficiency virus type-1 gag polyprotein. *Nucleic Acids Res.* 25:2902-2910.
- Lutz, H., Isenbugel, E., Lehmann, R., Sabapara, R.H., and Wolfensberger, C. 1992. Retrovirus infections in non-domestic felids: Serological studies and attempts to isolate a lentivirus, *Vet. Immunol. Immunopathol.* 35:215.
- Maki, N., Miyazawa, T., Fukasawa, M., Hasegawa, A., Hayami, M., Miki, K., and Mikami, T. 1992. Molecular characterization and heterogeneity of feline immunodeficiency virus isolates. *Arch. Virol.* 123:29-45.
- Mann, R., Mulligan, R.C., and Baltimore, D. 1983. Construction of a retrovirus packaging mutant and its use to produce helper-free defective retrovirus. *Cell* 33:153-159.
- Mansky, L.M., and Wisniewski, R.M. 1998. The bovine leukemia virus encapsidation signal is composed of RNA secondary structures. *J. Virol.* 72:3196-3204.
- Mansky, L.M., Krueger, A.E., and Temin, H.M. 1995. The bovine leukemia virus

encapsidation signal is discontinuous and extends into the 5' end of the *gag* gene. J. Virol. 69:3282-3289.

- Mathews, D.H., Sabina, J., Zuker, M., and Turner, D.H. 1999. Expanded sequence dependence of thermodynamic parameters improves prediction of RNA secondary structure. J. Mol. Biol. 288: 911-940.
- McBride, M. S., and Panganiban, A. T. 1996. The human immunodeficiency virus type 1 encapsidation site is a multipartite RNA element composed of functional hairpin structures. *J. Virol.* 70:2963-2973.
- McBride, M.S., and Panganiban, A.T. 1997. Position dependence of functional hairpins important for human immunodeficiency virus type 1 encapsidation in vivo. *J. Virol.* 71:2050-2058.
- McBride, M.S., Schwartz, M.D., and Panganiban, A.T. 1997. Efficient encapsidation of human immunodeficiency virus type 1 vectors and further characterization of *cis* elements required for encapsidation. *J. Virol.* 71:4544-4554.
- McCann, E.M., and Lever, A.M.L. 1997. Location of cis-acting signals important for RNA encapsidation in the leader sequence of human immunodeficiency virus type 2. J. Virol. 71:4133-4137.
- Miller, A.D. 1997. Development and applications of retroviral vectors. In *Retroviruses*. Edited by J. M. Coffin, S. H. Hughes, and H. E. Varmus. New York: Cold Spring Harbor Laboratory Press.
- Miller, R.J., Cairns, S., Bridges, S., and Sarver, N. 2000. Human immunodeficiency virus and AIDS: insights from animal lentiviruses. J. Virol. 74:7187-7195.
- Miyazawa, T., Kawaguchi, Y., Kohmoto, M., Sakuragi, J., Adachi, A., Fukasawa, M., and Mikami, T. 1992. Production of feline immunodeficiency virus in feline and nonfeline non-lymphoid cell lines by transfection of an infectious molecular clone. J. Gen. Virol. 73:1543-1546.
- Miyazawa, T., Kawaguchi, Y., Kohmoto, M., Tomonaga, K., and Mikami, T. 1994. Comparative functional analysis of the various lentivirus long terminal repeats in human colon carcinoma cell line (SW 480 cells) and feline renal cell line (CRFK cells). J. Vet. Med. Sci. 56:895-899.
- Murphy, F.A., Fauquet, C.M., Bishop, D.H.L., Ghabrial, S.A., Jarvis, A.W.,

Martelli, G.P., Mayo, M.A., and Summers, M.D., eds.1994. Virus taxonomy: the classification and nomenclature of viruses, Retroviridae. Springer-Verlag, Vienna.

- Murphy, J.E. and Goff, S.P. 1989. Construction and analysis of deletion mutations in the U5 region of Moloney murine leukemia virus: effects on RNA packaging and reverse transcription. J. Virol. 63:319-327.
- Mustafa, F., Jayanth, P., Phillip, P.S., Ghazawi, A., Schmidt, R.D., Lew. K.A., and Rizvi, T.A. 2005. Relative activity of the feline immunodeficiency virus promoter in feline and primate cell lines. *Microbes Infect.* 7:233-239.
- Mustafa, F., Lew, K.A., Schmidt, R.D., Browning, M.T., and Rizvi, T.A. 2004. Mutational analysis of the predicted secondary RNA structure of the Mason-Pfizer monkey virus packaging signal. *Virus Research* 99:35-46.
- Naldini, L., Blomer, U., Gallay, P., Ory, D., Mulligan, R., Gage, F.H., Verma, I.M., and Trono, D. 1996. In vivo gene delivery and stable transduction of nondividing cells by a lentiviral vector. *Science* 272:263-267.
- Olmsted, R.A., Barnes, A.K., Yamamoto, J.K., Hirsch, V.M., Purcell, R.H., and Johnson, P.R. 1989. Molecular cloning of feline immunodeficiency virus. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci* USA. 86:2448-2452.
- Olmsted, R.A., Langley, R., Roelke, M.E., Goeken, R.M., Adger-Johnson, D., Goff, J.P., Albert, J.P., Packer, C., Laurenson, M.K., and Caro, T.M., et al. 1992. Worldwide prevalence of lentivirus infection in wild feline species: epidemiologic and phylogenetic aspects. J. Virol. 66:6008-6018.
- Pancino, G., Castelot, S., and Sonigo, P. 1995. Differences in feline immunodeficiency virus host cell range correlate with envelope fusogenic properties. *Virology*. 206:796-806.
- Parolin, C., Dorfman, T., Palu, G., Gottlinger, H., Sodroski, J. 1994. Analysis in human immunodeficiency virus type 1 vectors of *cis*-acting sequences that affect gene transfer into human lymphocytes. *J. Virol.* 68:3888-3895.
- Patel, J., Wang, S.W., Izmailova, E., and Aldovini, A. 2003. The simian immunodeficiency virus 5' untranslated leader sequence plays a role in intracellular viral protein accumulation and in RNA packaging. J. Virol. 77:6284-6292.

- Pedersen, N. C. 1993. The Feline Immunodeficiency Virus. In *The Retroviridae* J. A. Levy (ed.), vol. 2. p. 181-228. Plenum Press, New York, N.Y.
- Pedersen, N.C., Ho, H., Brown, M.L. and Yamamoto, J.K. 1987. Isolation of a Tlymphotropic virus from domestic cats with an immunodeficiency-like syndrome, *Science* 235:790.
- Phillips, T.R., Talbott, R.L., Lamont, C., Muir, S., Lovelace, K., and Elder, J.H. 1990. Comparison of two host cell range variants of feline immunodeficiency virus. J. Virol. 64:4605-4613.
- Poeschla, E.M., Wong-Staal, F., and Looney, D.J. 1998b. Efficient transduction of nondividing cells by feline immunodeficiency virus lentiviral vectors. *Nature Med.* 4:354-357.
- Poeschla, E., Gilbert, J., Li, X., Huang, S., Ho, A., and Wong-Staal, F. 1998a. Identification of a human immunodeficiency virus type 2 (HIV-2) encapsidation determinant and transduction of nondividing human cells by HIV-2-based lentivirus vectors. J. Virol. 72:6527-6536.
- Rabson, A.B. and Graves, B.J. 1997. Synthesis and processing of viral RNA. In *Retroviruses*. Edited by J. M. Coffin, S. H. Hughes, and H. E. Varmus. New York: Cold Spring Harbor Laboratory Press.
- Rizvi, T.A. and Panganiban, A.T. 1993. Simian immunodeficiency virus RNA is efficiently encapsidated by human immunodeficiency virus type 1 particles. *J. Virol.* 67:2681-2688.
- Russell, R.S., Hu, J., Laughrea, M., Wainberg, M.A., and Liang, C. 2002. Deficient dimerization of human immunodeficiency virus type 1 RNA caused by mutations of the u5 RNA sequences. *Virology*. 303:152-163.
- Russell, R.S., Liang, C., and Wainberg, M.A. 2004. Is HIV-1 RNA dimerization a prerequisite for packaging? Yes, no, probably? *Retrovirology* 1:23.
- Sakaguchi, K., Zambrano, N., Baldwin, E.T., Shapiro, B.A., Erickson, J.W.,
 Omichinski, J.G., Clore, G.M., Gronenborn, A.M., and Appella, E. 1993.
 Identification of a binding site for the human immunodeficiency virus type 1
 nucleocapsid protein. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA*. 90:5219-5223.

Schmidt, R.D., Mustafa, F., Lew, K.A., Browning, M.T., and Rizvi, T.A. 2003.

Sequences within both the 5' untranslated region and the gag gene are important for efficient encapsidation of Mason-Pfizer monkey virus RNA. *Virology*. 309:166-178.

- Sorge, J., Ricci, W., and Hughes, S.H. 1983. Cis-acting RNA packaging locus in the 115nucleotide direct repeat of Rous sarcoma virus. J. Virol. 48:667-675.
- Sparger, E.E., Shacklett, B.L., Gregg, L.R., Barry, P.A., Pedersen, N.C., Elder, J.H., and Luciw, P.A. 1992. Regulation of gene expression directed by the long terminal repeat of the feline immunodeficiency virus. *Virology*. 187:165-177.
- Strappe, P.M., Greatorex, J., Thomas, J., Biswas, P., McCann, E., and Lever, A.M.
 2003. The packaging signal of simian immunodeficiency virus is upstream of the major splice donor at a distance from the RNA cap site similar to that of human immunodeficiency virus types 1 and 2. J. Gen. Virol. 84:2423-2430.
- Swanstrom, R., and Wills, J.W. 1997. Synthesis, assembly, and processing of viral proteins. In: *Retroviruses*. Edited by J. M. Coffin, S. H. Hughes, and H. E. Varmus. New York: Cold Spring Harbor Laboratory Press.
- Talbott, R.T., Sparger, E.E., Lovelace, K.M., Fitch, W.M., Pedersen, N.C., Luciw, P.A., and Elder, J.H. 1989. Nucleotide sequence and genomic organization of feline immunodeficiency virus. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci.* USA. 86:5743-5747.
- Tan, W., Felber, B.K., Zolotukhin, A.S., Pavlakis, G.N. and Schwartz, S. 1995. Efficient expression of the human papillomavirus type 16 L1 protein in epithelial cells by using Rev and the Rev-responsive element of human immunodeficiency virus or the cis-acting transactivation element of simian retrovirus type 1. J. Virol. 69:5607-5620.
- Telesnitsky, A., and Goff, S.P. 1997. Reverse transcriptase and the generation of retroviral DNA. In: *Retroviruses*. Edited by J. M. Coffin, S. H. Hughes, and H. E. Varmus. New York: Cold Spring Harbor Laboratory Press.
- Temin, H.M. 1992. Origin and general nature of retroviruses. In *the Retroviridae* (ed. J.A. Levy), pp. 1-18. Plenum Press, New York.
- Unger, R.E., Stout, M.W., and Luciw, P.A. 1991. Simian immunodeficiency virus (SIVmac) exhibits complex splicing for *tat*, *rev* and *env* mRNA. *Virology*. 182:177-185.
 Varmus, H.E. 1988. Retroviruses. *Science*. 240:1427-1435.
- Viglianti, G.A., Sharma, P.L. and Mullins, J.I. 1990. Simian immunodeficiency virus displays complex patterns of RNA splicing. J. Virol. 64:4207-4216.

- Vogt, P.K. 1997. Historical introduction to the general properties of retroviruses. In: *Retroviruses.* Edited by J. M. Coffin, S. H. Hughes, and H. E. Varmus. New York: Cold Spring Harbor Laboratory Press.
- Wang, G., Slepushkin, V., Zabner, J., Keshavjee, S., Johnston, J. C., Sauter, S. L., Jolly, D. J., Dubensky, T. W., Davidson, B. L., and McCraym P. B. 1999. Feline immunodeficiency virus vectors persistently transduce nondividing airway epithelia and correct the cystic fibrosis defect. J. Clin. Invest. 104:55-62.
- Watanabe, S. and Temin, H.M. 1983. Construction of a helper cell line for avian reticuloendotheliosis virus cloning vectors. *Mol. Cell. Biol.* 3:2241-2249.
- Watanabe, S., and Temin, H.M. 1982. Encapsidation sequences for spleen necrosis virus, an avian retrovirus, are between the 5' long terminal repeat and the start of the gag gene. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci.* USA. 79:5986-5990.
- Willett, B.J., Picard, L., Hosie, M.J., Turner, J.D., Ademan, K., and Clapham, P.R. 1997. Shared usage of the chemokine receptor CXCR4 by the feline and human immunodeficiency viruses. J. Virol. 71:6407-6415.
- Yamamoto, J.K., Sparger, E., Ho, E.W., Andersen, P.R., O'Connor, T.P., Mandell, C.P., Lowensteine, L., Munn, R., and Pedersen, N.C. 1988. Pathogenesis of experimentally induced feline immunodeficiency virus infection in cats. *American J. Vet. Research.* 49:1246-1258.
- Yu, S. S., Kim, J.M., and Kim S. 2000. The 17 nucleotides downstream from the env gene stop codon are important for murine leukemia virus packaging. J. Virol. 74:8775-8780.
- Zhang, Y.Q., and Barklis, E. 1995. Nucleocapsid protein effects on the specificity of retrovirus RNA encapsidation. J. Virol. 69:5716-5722.
- Zolotukhin, A.S., Valentine, A., Pavlakis, G.N., and Felber, B.K. 1994. Continuous propagation of RRE(-) and Rev(-)RRE(-) human immunodeficiency virus type 1 molecular clones containing a cis-acting element of simian retrovirus type 1 in human peripheral blood lymphocytes. *J. Virol.* 68:7944-7952.

على الدمج من خلال تجربة على الخلايا الحية. وعلى إثر ذلك تم تحليل كميات من (RNA) التي تم دمجها مباشرة في جزيئات الفيروس باستخدام نظام (RT-PCR).

أكدت التحاليل ما ذهبنا إليه من أن عوامل دمج فيروس نقص المناعة لدى القطط (FIV) هي بالفعل غير متصلة وتغطى عوامل الدمج الرئيسية والتي تمتد من ١٥٠ نكليوتيد (UTR) و ١٠٠ نكليوتيد (Gag). بالإضافة إلى ذلك فإن السلاسل التي تتوسط هذين العنصرين ليست ضرورية لعملية دمج أو انتشار المادة الوراثية. وأدى تحليل عناصر (LTR) إلى اكتشاف عوامل دمج أخري أقل فاعلية من السابقة وتقع في مناطق (SR/U5) و (LTR) إلى اكتشاف عوامل دمج أخري أقل فاعلية من السابقة وتقع في مناطق (SR/U5) و (UTR) إلى اكتشاف عوامل دمج أخري أقل فاعلية من السابقة وتقع في مناطق (SR/U5) و (RNA) إلى اكتشاف عوامل دمج أخري أقل فاعلية من السابقة وتقع في عملية التحول بعمليات التشئة اتضح بقاء تركيبة واحدة مكونة من جذوع وحلقات. وعند ربط عملية التحول بعمليات التشئة اتضح بقاء تركيبة واحدة مكونة من جذوع وحلقات. وعند ربط عملية التحول بعمليات التشئة اتضح بقاء تركيبة واحدة مكونة من جذوع وحلقات. وعند ربط اعتبارها العامل الرئيسي في عملية دمج فيروس نقص المناعة لدى القطط (FIV). وجدير بالذكر هنا أنه لم يوجد أي تركيبة على امتداد المائة نكليوتيد الأولى في (Gag) يمكن اعتبارها مسؤولة عن دمج الفيروس في منطقة (Gag)، لذلك يمكن اعتبار تتابعات (Gag) فعالة فقط خلال المراحل الأولى كان تولد تتابعات ام يوجد أي تركيبة على امتداد المائة نكليوتيد الأولى في (Gag) يمكن اعتبارها مسؤولة عن دمج الفيروس على منطقة (Gag)، لذلك يمكن اعتبار تتابعات (MRNA) المتقطعة. وستزودنا كل هذه المعطيات في منطقة (Gag)، لذلك يمكن اعتبار تتابعات (MRNA) المتقط في المراحل الأولى كان تولد تتابعات على منطقة (Gag)، فناك يمكن اعتبار تتابعات (MRNA) ومعليات المولية يمتقط خلال المراحل الأولى كان تولد التابعات على منطقة (Gag)، فناك يمكن اعتبار تتابعات (MRNA) المتقطعة والفير متقطعة. وستزودنا كل هذه المعطيات في منطقة (RNA) وللما عملية دمج الفيروسات الارتجاعية المادة الوراثية (RNA) وللمساعدة على تصميم داقل للفيروس يمتاز بالقدرة على كبح نفسه ويساعد في العلاج الجيني للإنسان.

الملخص العربى

إن عملية دمج الفيروسات الارتجاعية (Retroviruses) لمادتها الوراثية يمثل إحدى الوظائف الدقيقة والتي يتمكن بها الفيروس من دمج السلاسل الغير متقطعة الخاصة به من ضمن ملايين من سلاسل (mRNA) الفيروسية والخلوية المتقطعة الموجودة في السيتوبلازم. وتتطلب عملية الانتقاء هذه أن يحتوي الحمض النووي الريبي (RNA) الوراثي على عناصر دمج خاصة به والتي تتفاعل بأسلوب معين مع البروتينات الدامجة الخاصة بالجزيئات الفيروسية أي البروتينات المتعددة لعنصر (Gag). إن تحديد السلاسل المسؤولة عن عملية الدمج سيمكننا من تحديد عملية الدمج الخاصة بالحمض النووي الريبي (RNA) الوراثي المتكامل.

لقد ارتأينا تحديد العوامل المساعدة على عملية الدمج الخاصة بفيروس نقص المناعة لدى القطط (FIV) وهو فيروس يصيب الخلايا الغير منقسمة ويعتبر من الأنظمة الناقلة الفعالة في إطار العلاج الجيني للإنسان. لقد توصلنا من خلال أبحاثنا الأولية إلى أن العوامل المساعدة على دمج فيروس نقص المناعة لدى القطط (FIV) تتمركز في منقطتين منفصلتين أساسيتين ضمن منطقة (Gay) من المادة الوراثية الفيروسية. وتمتد المنطقة الأولى من (R/U5) بمنطقة (S'LTR) إلى غاية ١٢٠ نكليوتيد بمنطقة (Gay)، الجينوم أن يكون لها دور أيضا.

تتاولت هذه الأطروحة تلك المعطيات بمزيد من الدرس والتعمق من أجل معرفة ما إذا كان للمنطقة الوسطى دور في عملية الدمج أم أنها مجرد منطقة فاصلة بين العنصرين الأساسين في تلك العملية. بالإضافة إلى ذلك فإنه قد تم التوصل في دراسات أخرى إلى أن عدة مناطق في الجينوم وخاصة (LTR) تحتوي على عناصر دمج هامة، ولذلك فقد فصلنا دور عناصر (LTR) عن منطقة (UTR) أثناء قيامنا بدمج المادة الوراثية لفيروس نقص المناعة لدى القطط (FIV). ولتحقيق ذلك تم تكوين مجموعات لنقل فيروس نقص المناعة لدى الفطط (FIV) في بيئة تحتوي على خليط من (S'FIV UTR) و (3 و (Gag) وتم قياس قدرتها جامعة الامارات العربية المتحدة عمادة الدراسات العليا برنامج ماجستير علوم البيئة

تحديد التتابعات المهمة اللازمة لعملية تجميع المادة الوراثية لفيروس FIV وآليات عملها

> رسالة مقدمة من الطالبة عاقلة احمد محمد غزاوي

الى

جامعة الامارات العربية المتحدة استكمالا لمتطلبات الحصول على درجة الماجستير في علوم البيئة

المشرف

د. طاهر عزيز رزفي

استاذ مساعد-قسم الميكروبيولوجي الطبي كلية الطب والعلوم الصحية-جامعة الامارات العربية المتحدة

۲...



جامعة الامارات العربية المتحدة عمادة الدراسات العليا برنامج ماجستير علوم البيئة

تحديد التتابعات المهمة اللازمة لعملية تجميع المادة الوراثية لعديد التتابعات المهمة اللازمة لعملية عملها

رسالة مقدمة من الطالبة عاقلة احمد محمد غزاوى

الى

جامعة الامارات العربية المتحدة

استكمالا لمتطلبات الحصول على درجة الماجستير في علوم البيئة

1..0